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Dear Mr. McDunphy:

" April 9, 1953

With this I include a Memo of several actions intelligently planned and
daringly executed by the IRA during the Black and Tan War, and of

which I had first hand knowledge from the leaders of such actions soon
after they took place. I felt an urge to include their doings in my Hearst
press accounts of my experiences in Ireland during that War, but the War
being still on, my doing so would bring harm to people still active in

the War,

E_noﬁgh of my Hearst press records to make three chapters of my Tan
experiences in my long-after-the-War volume SEA-BORNE. In the

but it would hurt and that went into Sea=-Borne, as written. You quote that,
and proper for you to do so, and ask me to do the stories of high IRA action
now; but the great deeds I had early knowledge of, surely must be known
to native Irish writers by now. And so I am content to be recalled, if
my slight record is worth being recalled, as a minor reporter of my

‘ own experiences during the Tan War,

ATwo things I did do during that War that may be worth recalling, they
serving to show the malignancy of English propaganda. Soon after
the American Committee for the relief in Ireland was organized , and
our American press began to give a big play to English despatches
that much of the American Relief money was being used to buy arms and
ammaunition for the Irish Rebel Army. There was bad business for our
Relief. It wasn't fooling the Irish among us, but it was being believed by
many of the friendly non=~Irish among us. I had myself appointed
American Relief Commissioner to go to Ireland and look into the truth
or falsity of that charge, ™W( _

The charge originated with Macready's Chief of Staff, General Brind, I
confronted Brind in Dublin Castle. I opened up bluntly: "What of the story
that our Relief money being used to purchase arms and ammunition for
the Irish Republican Army, "

He said he had correspondence of Irish Rebel Army commendantes to
prove the truth of it? I challenged him to produce the correspondence

He could not produce, and we heard no more of the Arms and Ammunition
invention, Later I got word had gone out that no American Relief aid was
being allowed to go to the families of members. of the Irish Rebel Army or
to families of men on the run or in jail or interned. Real distress was the
result of that order. I confronted General Strickland in Cork and General.
Macready in Dublin Castle and asked them if they were standing for that
inhuman order. They both said they were standing for it. ~=Result, I

put them on record in the New York World via its London correspondent,
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or men on the run or in jail or interned,

/
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Hearst press stuff I said I could write a book, and so on, of daring IRA doing

and next day Dublin Castle called off the no American Relief for IRA families
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I sketched briefly my meeting with Brind, Strickland and Macready in my
SEA-BORNE, If you think a more nearly complete record of those meetings
will be of use to you, I will forward the record. .

¥
gbou ﬂ”.l'hat O'Connor article in HOLIDAY, and the O'Phelan article in LIFE:} -

The Irish Informer, nolonger has a market, but anti-Irish doings can still
be made to pay, O'Phelan had an article in COMMONWEAL that smelled
of dislike for Ireland, (Watch that COMMONWEAL , It was taken over
not long ago by a crew that are supposed to speak for the Catholic laity in
the U.S. But they are away off the beam. As for O'Phelan. I read his
LIFE thing and his COMMONWEAL thing, and I thought: 'How comes it
that Ireland can produce the splendid men and women of the Black and Tan
War if O'Phelan be a truthful recorder, . LIFE pays well for something

she wants. )

Get the records of the IRA in the field, the records that Emmet Dalton spoke
of as truly amazing, -- and he himself an amazing doer in that war -=- put them
into print in your war Book and you will have something to offset the O'Connors
and O'Rhelans, : : :

With Good Wishes to you and whoever else is for Eire--
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I sketched briefly my meeting with Brind, Strickland and Macready in my
SEA~BORNE, If you think a more nearly complete record of those meetings
will be of use to you, I will forward the record. . -

kﬂ ’]’hat O'Connor article in HOLIDAY, and the O'Phelan article in LIFE:} =
The Irish Informer, no longer has a market, but anti-Irish doings can still
be made to pay. O'Phelan had an article in COMMONWEAL that smelled
of dislike for Ireland, (Watch that COMMONWEAL . It was taken over
not long ago by a crew that are supposed to speak for the Catholic laity in
the U.S. But they.are away off the beamn. As for O'Phelan. I read his
LIFE thing and his COMMONWEAL thing, and I thought: 'How comes it
that Ireland can produce the splendid men and women of the Black and Tan
- War if O'Phelan be a truthful recorder. . LIFE pays well for something

she wants,) '

Get the records of the IRA in the field,‘ .the records that Emmet Dalton spoke
of as truly amazing. -~ and he himself an amazing doer in that war -= put them
into print in your war Book and you will have something to offsef the O'Connors

and O'Phelans. : . ‘

With Good Wishes to you and whoever else is for Eire-~
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JAMES B. CONNDOLLY
20 EAST BROODKLINE STREET
BO0STON 18, MASS,

April 29 D953

Dear Mr. McDunphy:

Surely by this time you are out of all’
patience with me. But listen:

An enclosed letter to you is dated April

9th, as 1t should be, but soemthing had to go
with it end the soemthing was n't ready. And

why was that soemthing ready? I was still in

the hands of Army Vetesren ledicos? I had been
all winter, but thnaks be spring 1s here and they
are gone - most of them, Lask week I got clear

of an eye experty and this week of an ear

wizard and tomorvow I shall be clear - I hope -

-0d the specialist in heart conditioning. Do not set
., me down as a doddering old invalid. I sint that -

not yet awhile. I am left with only & wise old
practitioner - 53 Jears in esctive practice and

who has it all over the specialists for my real
benefit and with him I come and go when I think

1 should end not at the behest of an Adminsitration
front office clerk. Those specialists they be most
busy men. And now to get onwith Black and Tan
matters. R

Somewhere inthe enclosures I tell why the writing
of those amazing deeds of the IRA men must before
this heve been tesken care of by your own native
writers; what 1s left me, if what is left is worth
while, 1is the record my squashing of English press
propaganda - malignent propaganda - in the matter
of the reported purchase of arms and ammhnition for
the TRA with American Relief money. After thst there
was my putting an end to that inhum=n order that

no relief mwmeEyx - no AmericanReliefsshould be -
albowed and was NUt being allowed to families of

memdgbers of the IRA or of men on the run, in jeil or

interned. The record of the meetings that Hdyught
that about are sketches in paper herewith. If that

iz of use tou you use 1t as you please - edit it

and use it or reject i1t altogetjer. I might have made

_ 8 btter job of 1t, but I 1did the best I could

in my handicapped way. If it is of no use to you
do not fesr to spare my feelings - tell me so. And
now Good Wishes to you - - o .

T i/ HI0 S

(James Brendan Connolly)
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On my second day in Dublingl met Emmet Dalton. A few days later
in my room in the Gresham he narrated the story of his Mountjoy
expedition (that time he came so near to rescuing Griffith and McKeon. )
He was the first of the highly intelligent and supremely daring IRA leaders
I came to know,

Vid .

Later I met the- commandante%lﬁ)ublin Brigade who led the expedition
to destroy the Custom House., The leader of that expedition phoned Dublin
that the Custom House was to be destroyed that very day, and troops should
be sent there to protect it, He got the re-action he expected. The Castle "’
guffawed: ''Destroy the Custom House, And ambush us on the way? No
you don't.'" The Dublin leader came away from that action with a bullet
through his right heel, a bullet through his right knee and an explosive
bullet through his right kidney, Emmet Dalton told me; '"He can't live, .

y But he was living and getting well when I met him in a Sinn Fein hospital

O \}4 three days later,
N In that same hospital, in a little room under the roof, was the leader of
ok < thefiree men posted behind a low stone wall ~ three men of Sean McKeon's

unit ~-In Ballinalea, placed there to scatter and to report to McKeon's

= flying column inghe nearby barracks & move4in on the village. The barracks
R moved in - tenlorry loads of them dismounting and roaring down to destroy
; i The three IRA riflemen did not scatter; they stayed right there

Y and drove them “back to their lorries and their barracks' sa#d the Ballinalea

man 4 rising up in his cot to tell it, and he with one leg gone and half a
dozen other wounds - he dying at the time and knowing it.

o

The Mountjoy adventure, the Custom House expedition and the Ballinalea
fight told as they exactly happened by the leaders concerned would be tabbed
as 1ncred1b1¢ stories by non-Irish listeners who knew nothing of the f1ght1ng
. Irish in their exalted moments,

/Ou)‘ & e e
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"You say I took on an amazing job, " said Dalton, '""Get hold of the reports

of the doings of our Army in the field and there you will find more amazing
action than anything we here in Dublin have done. Erskine Childers, Editor of
the IRA bulletin has the records. See him., He is on the run but,I'll tell

you where you can find him." He told me and’'l Hound Childers, but he did

not let me have any records, '

But'somebody must have fallen into those IRA field reports after Childers passed
on, and what a thrilling record they should make,/ There is nothing in all

history to match the fight put up by those few thousand IRA men against the

ten times their numbers and they armed only with hand rifles and home-made
grenades and no barracks-~brick and stone.for safety in case a fight went

wrong, And the ten times their numbers equipped with hand rifles, machine guns.
bombs and airplanes, armored cars and lorries and stone and brick to return. to.

Aimeveek .

e

Terrorism, Frightfulness, was the order of the day from the Castle to the
barracks in that War; Terrorism, Frightfulness for the unarmed people, for
women in their homes; but the women of Eire measure up to their men in that
War. I met such women during my moving around in the South, women.who had
their homes destroyed and their sons shot down before firing squads in the
So deep Soufh and hanged in Dublin, It was Madge Daly of Limerick{neice

.\/of Tom Clark) who said to me, gvhen I naa;pham.psoba—b—ky—é&-r—th&r engaged he

dng I has A
7'z
/Jtvz

&
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sleimg-herto servejas my gu1de round Limerick, . To that she said: "The
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A 7(0 M My _
done everything now but shoot me. Let them!"
7o hev // M 4/(7 7&/:.4 X0 eun’
'Iihere was Mrs. O'meara of Nenagh, - ,I said: "And hewgsaill-i-atlend? "
io which she said: '"They'll clear out or they'll wipe us out!'" There was the old
grandmother weeding the little plot in front of her little shack. Her grandson

Iad been captured badly wounded) and executed in a Cork barracks yazd.. Said
—_—
the old lady: ""Faith, I don't know should we cirse them or lave them to Gos,

en the young boys. There was the McDonald boy, 15 years.« His father_
nd mother had been driven from home, Their splendid home destroyed, t}m
torcar and jaunting car with it. They boy's two sisters,” cultured young

Women keeping house in the dirt floored garage. The Tan leader pretended
toifind a cartridge in the boy's pocket, The leader said to him: "That means
death, I will give you three minutes to pray.' The boy said to that: "I don't

want three minutes to pray. I'm ready now.'ly

4
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&. complete record of the Irish doings in thaf war would make standard reading for
tworld at large in days to come. The foregoing is only a minor part of
I saw and learned in my brief time jn Eire during the war. Even while the

was on insurgents in India were ?ﬁng example in their fight for Independence,
must fight like Irishmen, ' shouted gm'e leader{.

L) M

| am I trying to tell you } Ireland there of this, Well, I had to get
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Cur i dry = £’ The Black and Tan War wasn't long on when the news from there N
v ) . \ 5\,. was making painful reading for the friends of Ire‘land in America. Our concern § ;:
" . \ j wasn't for the men under arms. Fellows in the know in Dublin and elsewhere \;.r 5\.\:
J ‘i_ S os ;' \i in the South were reporting no fear for the men of Irish Republican Army. They \\ s
[ RSN _ ;\; were outnumbered ten to one but holding their own and a bit more.” No mgn like . 3 g
e ey 0 X them in all the world was the reports of the men of the IL.R. A, . \\T 3 ;:
“J;\:U ~ ‘“'[‘A-'; ‘§ But for the people at large, the unarmed def,cheless ones, if was : ;; {EJ
ri" 515‘ 1}) § a different story. The well-practiced procedures of theirni.litary power of the \\l 3\%
TR ‘ 21 \\- British Empire in its wars against Ireland was on again, Terrorism was was '\; N
SRR 177 S0 3F SRS t;"z the order of the day from Dublin Castle. ''Shoot them down. §The more you \Q. g
TG omean s kill the better you will please me' shouted one barracks Colonel to his Command N,
(LR «‘l-jl_f . . ;§ . Terrorism was the word, terrorism in various forms; new" forms,
y 0 BE T U NP RN S . :; ’§Cas w crs ‘ - _ : . . mes
veledeby I ,7 g \3 or i ’ i jai in conc i : tarve
R § ' ~o-the
2 The pro-English press, always a powerful influence in the

)
4

United Stat eéren't even giving a hint of what was going on in that War; but
igh was seeping through to let us know that thousands of families in the South

To relieve that distress, at least in part,

Fac £~

-~

of Ireland were in great distress.
the Committee for the American Relief in Ireland was organized, Appeal was

. G made for funds. Money came pouring in, quite a bit of it from non-Irish folk
& ' ’ - who were for any people battling for political freedom, and that money was

forwarded promptly to the Relief Headquarters in Dublin,

»

Letters of appreciation for the Relief aid were arriving from Ireland,

(1]
DA I Y e nag L |
& 27

but not for loﬁg when the American newspapers were running English despatches
to the effect that American Relief money was being used to purchase arms and
ammunition for the Irish Rebel Army, To those of us who knew British Empire
procedure in wartime =~ or peace - the ilnten't of the arms’-ﬁand ammunition story
1 was obvidus, but to those who would not know, and mult‘i‘tudes of friendly non-
R - Irish people would not know, that meant a lessening of funds for the Relief, .

- A - o N .
R 1E which meant that we should be doing something to offset-the effect of that arms
| ’ M

e

p and ammunition story. : ; .
L ] ' Now thousands of Americans were chafing to get a close-up report .
S = - of conditié_!ns in Ireland during that Black and Tan War . 1 was one of the
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thands, but only an American of known pro-English bias would be allowed

into Ireland while the War was on,.

For myself, I had served as a correspondent, in peace and war,

for Collier's and Scribner's and Harper's magazines, I could see where

I might serve Ireland, if only in a small way, if I could get into Ireland. But

how to get in?

The Arms and Ammunition propoganda pointed Eh_e way. ‘I called

7 //76'\/ AGVeca Fo

on the Relief Authorities with the offer to serve them in Ireland. /u‘iis,/

but how wﬁ.{itgwu get into Ireland?"
-
- "Why appoint me Commission for the American Rehef to check

uf) on how the Relief money is being spent over there."

I was appointed Commission, and I set out for Ireland. I.took a
roundabout route to Ireland, thinking to lose English Secret Service men
who might be trailing me, and thinking I had done so when I landed in
Ireland without once being challenged. (Later I learned that I had been
trailed from the day I sailed from New York to the day I left Ireland for home. )

Arriving in Dublin I registered at the Gresham Hotel, having been told
that it was a headquarters for men in the know of the inner operations of
Republic; also it served the best food in the British Isles; also it was spoken

of as the Shooting Craflery because of happenings within it,

Before I went to bed that night I made the acquéintan.ce of six men
very much in the know, One was the Secretary for Home Affairs in Brésident
De Valera's Cabinet, Joseph MacDonagh.' He was on the run , and an open

target for any Black and Tan who might sight him, but he gave no sign that

. being on the run worried him,

Next morning I looked up Clement France, Head of the American
Relief in Dublin. He assured me that no Relief money was being spent
for arms and ammunition for the Irish Republican Army. I went from France

to the office of our Consul, The clerk in his outer office reported the Consul as

Ja
being very, wery busy, aliogetker, to see anybody that day. To that I said ,

- "I'm a busy man myself, You go back and tell your boss that I'm waiting

right here till he has time for me.'
The clerk disappeared and re- appeared saylng/ the Consul would
see me, :
' The Consul showed no sign of gladness as I entered, which wasn't

unexpected by me, ‘I had been told in the Gresham that three of the four

American Consuls in Ireland were pro-Britlsh, and the Dublin one t.he rnosi;

My SRpen Lo

>
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pro-British of the three, Before I could get started on my story he opened up
with a spiel on the spread of the Foet and M uth disease among Irish cattle.

I stopped him early with: ""There's no foot and mouth disease among Irish
cattle. British propaganda that -- anything to cripple Ireland's resources

in this war, How about you arranging for me to see General Macready?"

"General Macready is not in Dublin now, "

"No?" - "Who takes his plé.ce when he's away?'"
. &
"Mmm. That would be the General's Chief of Staff, General Brind."

M[11l see General Brind then, "

He went to the phone, talked awhile, turned to me: ""General Brind
will see you anyti.me before twelve o'clock, "

"In Dublin Castle, "

"In the Castle of course.  »” He informed where in within the Castle
grounds I would find Brind - in a barracks nearest the Phoenix Park entrance,.

At the nearest entrance to Phoenix Park I was held up .by three
olive drab soldiery with bayonets fixed to their rifiles. They acted as if
they were expecting me, One of them pointed out the biilding where' I would
find General Brind, -




[
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I headed for the building indicated. A Biack and Tan orderly

led me to the top floer of the building, threw open a door to a small dingy
room. A meagre little man, not in uniform, was sitting at a wide, flat
’ topped desk He was alone in the room. o
I laid my passport and Relief credentials before him, -He waved
them away, by which I guessed that he knew all about me from our Consul

ver the phone, @

I replaced my credentials papers in my coat pocket and opened
a conversation which proceeded, as I recall it after thirty-one years, as I

give it below:

sConnolly: - "As Commissioner for the American Relief I have
come to Ireland to report on how our R lief money is being spent.- Press despatches
in our American press, dated London but evidently emanating from Dublin, have it
that Relief money is being used to purchase arms and ammunition for the
Irish Republican Army. Mr. Clement France, in charge of our Relief Head~-
quarters, here in Dublin, has assured me that not a dollar of Relief money has
been used to purchase arms and ammunition or any other supplies for the
Irish Republican Army, " | : 4 B
Brind: ~ "He has? Well, I can assure you differently. In Dublin
Castle here we have correspondence taken off capturqd rebel ypif commandentes
which prove that the Irish rebel army has been purchasing arms and ammunition

with American Relief money."

Connolly: -" So0? May I seel the captured correspondence?"

Brind: - "Mmmm, certainly. ' (He pressed a desk button. A young .
officer entered,) 'In my letter files you will find corre’spopdence taken from
captured rebel commandantes, " CT

The young officer waited as if for further orders,

Brind: - "Get those letters and bring them here." (The young officer
saluted and left.) Brind pressed another button and another officer entered, an
older officer. | - | ‘

Brind : - "This is Major Stewart. "

Commolly: - "How dg y'do?"

The Major, a sour puss, nodded towards me, produced a pad and

pencil, marched to the left hand corner of the room and began lodcing me over.
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He made pencil marks on the pad. He moved to the right hand corner of the
roem and resumed his surveying, He moved to a side position, and from there
he moved to take a stand behind me. I could almost feel him breathing on the
* back of my neck, Secret Service was my thought, .and when he is done with me

he will have a recognizable sketch of me - with notes for theCastle sples who.
would be set on my trail, CI met up with plenty of thermn while in Ireland) :

While the Ma_]or was manouverlng around the room, Brind was
speaking of matters that held nothmg of interest to me until he brought in
the name of De Valera. '

Brind: - "You of course have met this DeValera?"

Connolly: - "No, " | )

Brind: - "No?"

Connolly: - ""NO, "

[ Brind: - "He was hung in effigy to two lamp posts in

|

'/ Connolly: - "So I read in this morning's Times,"

Brind: "He is on the run you know, "

Connolly: "So I've been told."

Brind: - "We will pick him up before long.‘ But will you tell me
why the Irish are content to accept for a leader a man who ls not Irish, who is a
Spanlard and a Jew,

Connolly: -"President DeValera is not a.Spaniard." He is an American
citizen, born in America, of Spanish descent on one side, Irish on his mother's
side. And he is not a Jew. He is a Catholic, Catholic born and Catholic living.

( DeValera a Jew! No, no. DeValera, as you have said, is a man on the run, standing

a good chance of being spotted and shot down every time he leaves his hideout.

What Jew, or any other man not Irish would take over DeValera's job as B@ot 'ﬁ’k,%ﬁ;zm
’ A

of the Irish Republic w1té‘t;_}t‘he danger (ﬁ that g&'{uth it? And no pay. No, No,
And now, what about that/(captured Irish Army letters/?" (I was doubting from

f

—{the first his sto story of” the capture of Irish Army letters., By now I wasn't -

fearing a showdown, ) )
. Brind: -« "O yes! The letters,' (He pressed a button, reluctantly
I thought., The young officer entered.)
"Young officer: - (without waiting for Brind to speak) "We have searched

everywhere, Sir, but we haven't been able to find Ay Irish Army letters of any

kind.
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- I gave Brind time to say something. He said nothing, then: =
Connolly: - ""No letters, General? (With that I stood up and left
him, A meagre little man, chegeined erenrat his wide flat topped deésk.)
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r#’_/__,./f While in Cork I called on General Strickland then in command of the
]

A

.«r*“?@
R

British forces in that area. I learned where I might find him, and there I found him~
" in a back room on the top floor of a large barracks building, An officer, his aide-de-
campe, was standing beside the General's desk. I gave the aide-de-campe my name
adding: "I am Commissioner fer the American Committee for the Relief in Ireland and
I come over here to report on the charge that Relief money is being spent for the
purchase of arms and ammunition fer the Irish Republican Army. "
""The Irish Rebel Army, " shout;:ad Strickland from behind his desk.

.Connolly: - "The Arms and Ammunitien stery has gone out of circulation
And now what of the report that you are not allewing any American Relief to go to the
distressed families of men in the Irish Republican Army?
| Strickland, standing up to answer: - 'l shall not allow any of that money
to go to the families of that Irisb; rebel army or the families of men on the run, in
jail, or interned.' {Interned meant in concentration camps.)
| F Connolly: - "General Strickland, I am gmng te put my question - and
the same question, to you agaxn n
I put the question and got the same -answer, this time with the
addition: - "Murderous rebelsl is what they are. Murdering my peor boys."
Strickland's aide-de-campe, a well-nourished person ef ébout-f&rty years,
‘a friajpr, entered into the conversation with: "Sir, " meaning Strickland , 'd'y'
 know, 1 think the Irish in America have altogether teo much’to say how we shall govern
Ireland, " ‘ ﬁ -

e Connolly: - '"So? And how long dé you think the peeple ef Irish bleed
should be living in the United States before you would think of them as American
citizens 7" | ' -

Aide~-de-campe -'" Mmmm. Two-or three generations I d say."

Connelly: - "You'd say. You better take another sair. My father was
‘born right up here in Galway Bay - in the Aran Islands. He left there as a young man
for Ameri-ca, and the instant he set fooet on that ship wharf in Boston he was fit for

American citizenship. And do yoeu knew why? He did not have to unlearn a lot of

5 VAL AP e h /Tﬂﬂ"/’f" vru B Y o wrapy Y s pronr prs 7 0T

hoeey about the Beneficence of the British Empire. And if it wasn't for the Irish
who fought in eur War for Independence, what are.now the United States of America g‘
could very well be British Colonies. The Irish in America have teo much to say? S
One };alf to two-thirds of Washingten's Army, according to efficial English reporting, }
'were Irish born or of Irish descent. There were 240 of my name on the muster rolls
, N
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of Washington's Army -~ 11 of them commissioned officers - and there were more
Kellys and Murphys and Doughertys and O'Briens than Cennollys, and so on dewn the N
roll call of ancient Irish names. And if you care te check up en what I say, I can tell you

where you will find the muster roll records of those names."” ‘
The plump Aide did not ask te know where he would find the recerds. Then:

Connolly: - "What about a pass to drive over the road to Limerick?" { A

. pass was necessary to drive more than 20 miles over the read.) In place of the

£ 4
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- WAS a hell for the citizenry.

necessary pass he gave me a spiel about the dangers of road travel in that area, /“{
would meet with impassable ditches and felled trees across the road-obstacles placed
there by fnurderous rebels, and arriving in Limerick, if I arrived there safely, I
would be met at the Limerick barracks gate by three armed men with bayonets fixed
to their rifles and one of them would stick a bayontt point against my belly and demand
to know my business,” (I had said I had in mind te call on General Cameron in
command in Limerick. ) - and sc on and so on, but no travel pass,

So I went by train to Limerick and I called at the barracks, and [ was .
held up at the barracks gate by three armed men with bayenets fixed to their rifles
and one of them put a bayonet point te my stemach and demanded to know my business,
I told him - to see somebody in authority and get a permit to drive over the reoad
to my next place of call, which would be Nenagh, (I gave a brief account of my Limerick
'experiences in my volume SEA -BORNE , so no mere of that except to say that Limerick

Cork was worse than Dublin and_)l_.imerick was werse .
than Cerk, )

I found Nenagh a city of gleom. All Business stepped - all shops shut dewn
In Dublin, Cork and Limerick no people walked the streets by night, but

In Nenagh nobedy was walking the streets that day. Four of the Royal
All Nenagh

for the day.
they did by day.
Irish Constabulary had been shot down - shot dead by the I. R, A, riflemen,
had to share in the R. I. C. mourning. "All business had te stop, all shops shut dewn
for the day, Whether it was a barracks order or no, I did not inquire but except fer
the military all I saw en the streets that day was one woman on her hotel sidewalk.

The smaller the place the mere dangereus. Nenagh had me thinking oi

Dungarven, the little port on the Irish Sea. Not a single man (except myself) walked

' Dungarven by day or night. Four men well on in years sat on a bench in frent of the

little hotel until curfew, Then, Ander cower they went then, Dungarven then was like
s -

a city of the dead. The little hotel there (my hotel) faced the back of the barracks, and

in that barrack lay the boedy of a young Irishman, He had been walking the road, an

unarmed lad, when a lorry load of Strickland's "poor beys' had overtaken him and

bayonetted him to death, Why? Did they have to giave a reason? Not they.
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I was back in Dublin after my swing around the South and callingon . . .
Clement France,’ the Relief's directing head in Ireland.

"Our Consul," said France, 'phoned that General Macready would like

t o see you at the Castle, " ‘
I called on our consul, verjr pro-British, to learn what General Macready

wished to see me about, The Consul could only tell me that General Macready
had word from General Strickland that he should have a talk with the American
Connolly, '
P Our Censul, always in toluch_with Dublin Castle, went to the phone, He
( came away to say that'General Macready would be waiting for me in his quarters
i“.:}?at four o'clock that afterncon.
iy
‘:."7 in-Chief of the British Forces in Ireland would want te see me? Strickland had said

4 he should see me? So. Then, I hope he had quoted me in full, It might cenvince

i -‘Maéready, as [ think it did Strickland, that the Irish in America were strong as ever

“ for a free Ireland.
An Army sergeant met me at the main Castle gate. I did not have to tell
' him of my engagement with the Generél. he Knew. The Guafds at the gate when I
| went to see Brind - they kmew., And so for the guards at the Castle barracks in Cork.
English communication in Ireland? Efficient, The Sergeant beckoned to an oli:ve
drab lad in a sentry box,
"Shall I take my rifle,! asked olive drab,

Sergeant: - "Why of course you shall take your rifle.' He swung open

"You will escort this gentleman to the General's quarters."

the wide gate.

‘ "Shéll I take my rifle?" Olive drab was a flabby, faced undernourished
nineteen year old who shouldered his rifle ‘as if it was a log of wood, while crossing
the spacioﬁs Court yard of the Castle, I wondered what he thought his rifle was for.
An I, R, A, bo'y', any boy in my place, would have whipped that rifle from him, if
needs be before olive drab would guess what he was up to. It would be like taking
candy frer.n a baby., He was the usual English soldier. I had been with a half-dozen
civilians in a railway coach load of his kind, placed with us to avoid being_’blown up.
‘ ' The soldier escorted me to the entrance to Macready's quarters. A three
time rap on the door knocker brought a valet, and he summoned a tall Army officer
so imposingly uniformed that I threw him a salute thinking him Macready.

© MI'm ﬁot the Commander-in-Chief, " he said and led the way upstairs
where a man not in uniform was eeated in a swivel chair before a roller top desk

in a room with a coal fire in a nearby grate.

I put in a good part of the next few hours in speculating on why the Commander-
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"Won't you be seated, ' he said pleasantly enough, and motioned to a nearby
chair before the fire, It was June, but there was a fire. He turned te pick up a o
letter from his desk, held it up before him to read.

Macready: - "Mr. Connelly, de you happen by any chance to be related to'that
James Connolly who was executed after the Easter week Rebellion?"
| Connelly: - '"I am sorry to have to say, General Macready, that so far as
I know we are not related, because from what I have learned about him, he was a man
of great mind, a great heart, a great soul, A great man altogether. I am sorryl

can't claim relationship, "

out 4
He said nothing to that, laid the letter back on his desk,p\l-drew oy s cigar.

pe - Connolly: - "Do you mind if I smoke, General?' 4. .
L Macr.eady: - "Wait, wait, I have cigars here." (Hé reached to a drawer in

his desk, brought out a box of cigars.) "These are goed cigars. Four shilling cigars,

. - Connolly: - " I have a cigar here, General, and a goed cigar toe. A two
s LLD for a shilling_cigar, made by a friend of mine, Henr.y Fitzgerald, in my hometown of
L-cn. -«  DBesten," .
Macready,{ pushing a four shilling fellow at me}) : - ' O have one of mine,

TR l - and smoke it later, "

N L I took it and thanked him, but I did not smoke it later, I passed it on to an
o l L] acquaintance in the Gresham Hotel lobby next morning saying: »

"Have a smoke on Dublin Castle, a four shillin' smoke, "

He lit it saying, "Four shillin's ! I never thought I'd live to smoke a four

shillin' cigar,"

Macready waved his hand te take in the reom, a large roem.s

Macready: - "These were the Duke of Coﬁnaught's quarters when he was
stationed in Dublin, "

My thought te this was: - Here's a guy, thinking to impress a visiting stranger
that he was occupying quarters that were once occupied by a Royal Duke, Imagine DeValera
or Michael Collins making mention of a Royal Duke to impress a visitor. No, no, not'they.

Connolly: ~ "MMMMMM! Nice," And now, General Macready, I have
a question for you. What about our Relief money not being allowed to go to distressed
people in Ireland? Distress brought on by this War," .

| Macready: - "Mr, Connolly, I.shall not allow any of your Relief to go to

the families of men in the Irish rebel army or in jail, on the run or interned."
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Connelly: - "So? Do you realize, General Macready, that you are more
repressive, far more, than the Germans were in Belgium. Under the directien
of Herbert Hoover our government expended millions of dollars in Belgian relief
with never an objection from the German military; I am going te put my question

to you again, and I'm telling you now that I shall quote your answer to the press,'

I put the question again, and got the answer, - "No relief money to the

families of men in the Irish rebel army, men in jail on the run, or interned." Then:

Connelly: - "General Strickland in Cork gave me the same exact answer, '
He said nothing te that, I said a few words on the British conduct of the
war, without bearing down heartily on his rejection,

Macready: - "Do y'know Mr. Connolly, that Michael Collins is without

doubt a rather decent zort personally, but do y'know his name in England is anathema, "

I took that as his way of, puttlng me in better humeor, and sett1ng himself
as a tolerant seort of English man And so:

Connolly: - '"Do you know, S8ir Neville, I have met sormne men here who
regard you as not a bad sort - you E‘havmg to carry out your orders from the higher
ups, with the Irish people at largewyour name is alse anathema." ‘ '

He curled up a bit at that, and from there I said a few more words on the
conduct of the War,. this time bearing more heavily on the British, He took it for
a while, and then, explosively:.

Macready: - '"Mr. Connolly, England cannot afford tg have a republic on
her flank. " '

I do not think he meant to let that get out of hlm. I had goaded him into
saying it I think now,

Connolly: - Sir Neville, to carry that statement of yours to its logical or
absurd conclusion, Germany should hot be allowing Holland to exist as a free
government on her flank, especially so as both countries are affiliated racially
and religiously, nor sheuld France be allowing a free Belgium on her flank, the
racial and religious affiliation being there also, and so making a unien a natural
action; whereas in the case of Ireland, Nature has placed an ineradicable barrier
the Irish Sea, and also there is no affiliation of race and religion and there is
the further difference of inherent culture and philosophies of living, "

Macready, (explosivgly)‘ :- "Let us not talk politics, Mr. Connolly."

Connolly: (also. exPlosively) :- "You started it, Sir Neville,'" Since he had
named Michael Collins withoﬁt his rank of General I had spoken of Macready as Sir
Neville, not General Macready.

That ended the fireworks. He said something about tea, and led the way

below to a large room where a table was laid for tea., All polite palaver there until

BUREAU GF MILITARY HISTORY 1913-21
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between two cups of tea: '’ No. WI.S. R B
Macready: - "How much longer do you expect fo fémain in Ireland, f
Mr. "Connolly?" |
Connolly: - "Do y'know, General, there is so much happening here \

in Dublin that I hate to leave.'' I so spoke, but to me that question meant that
the Castle spies had turned in reports of my non-Relief activities. I was
learning tee much at first hand of Black and Tan deings. Macready 's question

was the tip-off that I would do well to be on my way out of Ireland, and I went on

my way, though not immediately, From Dublin Castle and Macready I went to
look up Erskine Childers, Editer of I. R, A. Bulletin , taking care to lose rcgyspies
who might be trailing me from the Castle,

During one of his calls on me at the Gresham , Emmet Dalton had told me
I should get hold of Erskine Childers. "He is the editor of the I.R A. bulletins
To him come reports of 1. R. A. commandantes in the field, They have been doing

amazing things -= incredible things if you didn't know the sort of men they are.

Childers may let you have some of their reports, '

R
Dalton told me where I would find Childers who was on the run./w
' .

S .

bent over a little table writing away when I walked in on him.
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April 9, 1953.

Dear Mr. McDunphy:

With this I include a Memo of several actions
1ntelligently planned and daringly executed by the I.R.A. |
during the Black and Tan War, and of which I had first
hand knowledge ffom the leaders of such actions soon
lafter they took place. I felt an urge fo inelude their
doings in my Hearst press accounts of my experiences 1n
Ireland during that War, but theWar beilng still on, my doing
so would bring harm to people still active in the War,

Enough of my Hearst press records to make three
chapters of my Tan experiences in my long-after-the-War
volume SEA-BORNE. In the Hearst press stuff I said I could
write a book, and so on, of daring I.R.A. doings, but it-
would hurt and that went into Sea-Borne, as written. You
quote thgt, and proper for you to do so, and ask me to do
the stories of high I.R.A. action now; but the great deeds
I had early knowledge of, surely must be known to native
Irish writers by now. And S0 I.am content to be recalled,
if my slight record is worth being‘recalled, as a minor

reporter of my own experiences during the Tan War.

| A scant record of my meetings with Chief of Staff,
Genl, Brind, Genl. Strickland and Genl. Macready 1is

enclosed.

Two tﬁings I did do during that War thgt may be
worth recalling, they serving to show the malignancy of
English propaganda. Soon after the American Committee
for the relief in Ireland was organized, and our American

press began to give a big play to English despatches that



much of the American Relief money was being used to buy
arms and ammunition for the Irish Rebel Army. There was
bad business for our Relief, It wasn't fooling the Irish
among us, but it was being believed by many of the friendl&
non-Irish among ﬁs. I haﬁ,myself appointed American
Relief Commissioner to go to Ireland and lock into the
truth or falsity of that charge, to serve without pay or
expense to the Relief. Sounds generous but
not so generous! I knew that 1f I cared to write of my
Relief experiences later,'I would have no difficulty in
finding a paying press. But it turned out so - even before

I sajled, a syndicate editor came around to sign me ﬁp.

The charge originated with Macready's Chief of Staff,
General Brind. I confronted Brind in Dublin Castle. I
opened up bluntly: "What of the story that our Relief
money belng used to ﬁurchase arms and ammunition for the

Irish Republican Army."

He said he had correspondence of Irish Rebel Army
commendantes to prove the truth of it? I challenged him
to produce the correspondence. _He could not produce, and
we heard no more of the Arms and Ammunition invention.
Later I got word had gone out that no American Relief aid
was being allowed to go to the families of members of the
Irish Rebel Army or to families of men on the run or in
jail or interned. Real distress was the‘result of that
ordef. I confronted General Strickland in Cork and General
Macready in Dublin Castle and asked them 1f they were
standing for that inhuman order. They both said they were
standing for it. -- Result, I put them on record in the |
New York World via its London correspondent, and next day
Dubliﬁ Castle called off the no American Relief for I.R.A.

families or men on the run or in jail or interned.
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I sketched briefly my meeting with Brind, Strickland
and Macready in my SEA-BORNE. If you think a more nearly
complete record of those meetings wil% be of us to you, I
.will forward the record.

About that O'Connor article in HOLIDAY, and the
O0'Phelan article in LIFB:- The Irish Informer, no longer
has a market, but anti-Irish doings can still be méde to
pay. . O'Phelan had an article in COMMONWEAL that smelled
of dislike for Ireland. (Watch that COMMONWEAL. It was
taken over npt_long ago by a erew that are supposed to
speak for the Catholic laity in the U.S. . But they are away -
off the beam. As for O'Phelaq. T read his LIFE thing and
his COMMORWEAL thing, and I thought: 'How comes it that
Ireland can produce the splendid men and women of the Black
and Tan War 1f O'Phelan be a truthful recorder. LIFE pays

well for something she wants. )

Get the records of the I.R.A. in the field, the
records that Emmet Dalton spoke of as truly amazing -- and
he himself an amazing doer in that war -- put them into
print in your war Book and you will hgve something to offset
the 0!'Connors and O'PhHelans. -(Nothing new to you folks in
Ireland, but to a multitude of the_Irish blocd over here
are thinking. I have a name for interpreting Irish
feeling over here, and I could not help writing that maybe -

probably - unnecessary advice.)

With good wishes to you and whoever else 1is for
Eire --

J.B.c.

T
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JAMES B. CONNOCLLY i

20 East Brookline Street
Boston 18, Mass.

April 29 1953

F

Dear Mr. McDunphy:

Surely by this time you are out of all patience

with me. But listen:

An englosed letter to you is dated April 9th, as
it should be, but something had-to gowithit and the
something wasn't ready. And why was that something
ready? I wés étill_in the bhands of Army Veteran
Medicos? I had been all winter, but thanks be spring
is here and they are gone - most of them, Last week I
got clear of an eye expert, and this week of an ear
wizard apd tomorrow I shall be clear - I hope - of the
specialist in heart conditioning._ Do not set me down
as a doddering old invalid. I aint that - not yet
awhile. I am left with only a wise old practitioner -
53 years in active practice and who has it all over the
- specialists for my real benefit and with him I come and
go when I think I should and not at the behest of an
Administration front office eclerk. Those speclalists
they bé most busy men. And now to get on with Black
‘and Tan matters.

Somewhere in the eneclosures I tell why the
writing of those amazing deeds of the I.R.A. men must
before this have been taken care of by your own native
writers; what is left me, if what is left is worth
while, is the record my squashing of English press
propaganda -'malignant propaganda - iﬁ the matter of
the feported purchase of arms and ammanition for the
I.R.A. with American Relief money. After that there
was my putting an end to that inhuman order that no



relief - no American Relief - gshould be allowed and was

not being allowed to families of the I.B.A. or of men on tﬁe
ran, in Jail or interned. The record of the meetings that
brought that about are sketches in paper herewith. - If that
is of use to you use it as you please - edit it and use it
or reject it altogether. I might have made a better job of
it, but I did the best I could in my handicapped way. If
it is of no use to you do not fear to spare my feelings -

tell me so. And now good wishes to you.

(SIGNED) JAMES BRENDAN CONNOLLY

Remember me to your President. My  friend Connie Neenan
brought back good reports of him from his last trip to
Ireland - but give him my good wishes now, please.

J.B.c.
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STATEMENT BY JAMES BRENDAN CONNOLLY,
20 East Brookline Street, Boston 18, Mass., U.S.A.

On my second day in Dublin - May, 1921 - I met Emmet
Dalton. A few days later in my room in the Gresham he
narrated the story of hils Mountjoy expedition (that time he
came so near to rescuing Griffith and McKeon). He was the
first of the highly intelligent and supremely daring I.R.A.

leaders I came to know..

Later I met the commandanté of the Dublin Brigade
who led the expedition to destroy the Custom House. The
leader of that expedition phoned Dublin that the Custom
House was to be destroyed that very day, and troops should
be sent there to protect it. He got the re-action he
expected. The Castle guffawed: "Destroy the Custom
House. And ambush us on the way?" No you don't". ' The
Dublin leader came away from that action with a bullet
through his right heel, a bullet through his right knee and
an explosive bullet through his right kidney. Emmet
Dalton told me: "He can't live.™ But he was living and
getting well when‘I met ﬁim in a Sinn Fein hospital three

days later.

In that same hospital, in a little room under the
roof, was the leader of the three men posted behind & low
stone wall - three men of_Sean McKeon's unit - in Ballinalea,
placed.there to scatter and to report to McKeon's flying
column in case the nearby barracks moved in on the village.
The barracks moved in - ten lorry loads of them dismounting
and roaring down to destroy the village. The three I.R.A.
riflemen did not scatter; they stayed right there: "and
drove them back to their lorries and their barracks@ - said
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the Ballinalea man, rising up in his cot to tell it, and he
with one leg gone and half a dozen other wounds - he dylng
at the time and knowing ii.

The - Mount joy adventure, the Custom House expedition
and the Ballinalea fight told as they exactly happened by
the ;aa@ers concerned would be tabbed as incredible stories
by non-Irish listeners who knew nothing of the fighting
Irish in their exalted moments. |

"You éay I took on an amazing job", said Dalton.
"Get hold of the reports of the doings of our Army in the
field and there you will find more amazing action than
anything we here in Dublin have.done. Erskine Childers,
Editor of the I.R.A. bulletin has the records. Sse him.
He 18 on the run but It'll tell you where you can find him".
' He told me and I found Childers, but he did not let me have

any records.

But somebody must have fallen into those I.R.A.
field reports after Childers passed on, and what a thrilling
record. they should make! There is nothing in all history
to match the fight put up by those few thousand I.R.A. men
against the‘tén times their numbers and they armed only
with hand rifles and home-made grenades gnd no barracks -
brick and stone - for safety 1n case a fight went wrong.
And the ten times their numbers equlipped with hand rifles,
machine guns, bombs and airplanes, armored cars and lorries

and stone and brick to return to.

Terrorism, Frightfulness, was the order of the day
from the Castle to the barracks in that War; Terrorism,
Frightfulness for the unarmed people, for women in their
homes; but the women of Eire measure up to their men in

that War. I met such women during my moving around in



-3 -

the South, women who had their homes destroyed and their
sons shot down before firing squads in the So deep South
and hanged in Dublin. It was Hadgé Daly of Limerick
(niece of Tom Clark) who said to me,'shg had; I engaged
her to serve as my guide around'Limerick,ZEhd I had said:
*I put you in danger to-day when I asked you to be my guide

here in Limerick"./ To that she said: “They have done

everything to me now but shoot me. Let them!*

Tﬁere was Mrs. O'Meara of Nenagh - to her I said:
"And how is 1t all going to end?". To which she said:
"They'll clear out or they'll wipe us ocut!™ There was the
0ld grandmother weeding the little plot in front of her
little shack. Her grandscn had been captured (badly
wounded) and executed in a Cork barracks yard. /[What do
you think of them?"(J.B.C.)/ Saild the old lady: "Faith, I

don't know should we curse them or lave them to God".

Even the young boys. There was the McDonald boy,
15 years. /A few miles from Limerick on the bank of the
Shannon, a beautiful blue - purple almost - Shannon there./
His father and mother had been driven from home, their
splendid home destroyed,-their motorcar and jaunting car with
it. The boy's two sisters, cultured young women keeping
house 1in the dirt floored garage. The Tan leader pretended
to find a cartridge in the boy's .pocket. The leader said
to him: “That means death.- I will give you three minutes
to pray". The boy said to that: "I don't want three '
ninutes to pray. I'm ready now". [Kfter coming away from
the McDonald's, I felt like putting in for enlistment in the
I.R.A. Only for a waiting family back home I might have.

J.B.C./

A complete record of the Irish doing in that war
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would make standard reading for the world at large in days
to cone. The foregoing is only a minor part of what I saw
and learned in my brief time in Eire during the war, Even
while the War was on, insurgents in India were taking
example in their fight for Independence. *"We must fight
like Irishmen", shouted leaders. |

And am T trying to tell you in Ireland there of this?
Well, I had to get the foregoing off my chest.

The Black and Tan War wasn't long on when the news
from there was making painful reading for the friends of
Ireland in América. Our concern wasn't for the men under
arms. Fellows in the know in Dublin and elsewhere in the
South were reporting no feér for the men of Irish Republican
Army. They were outmmbered ten to one but holding their
. own and a bit more. No men like them 1n‘all the world was

the reports of the men of the I.R.A.

But for the people at large, the unarmed defenceless
ones, 1t was a different story. Thg ﬁell-practicai
procedures of the military power of the British Empire in
its wars againét Ireland was on again. Terrorism was the
order of the day f?om Dublin Castle. "Shoot them down.
The more you kill the better you will please me" shouted one
b&rracks Colonel to his Command at rollcall, Zﬁote: That
tidbit was quoted in the American press. - J.B.C. - Colonel
Smith of the Cork barracks was the officer./ and-forthwith
wenb-his-brave-warpriers-and-perfopmed-te-please-him,. [HNote:
I learned in Cork that some of them (R.I.C. men) resigned

rather than remain under Smith's orders./(J.B.C.)
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" Terrorism was the word, terrorism in various forms;
new-ferms;-as-ﬁhen—%hé-he&éa-ef—familiasy-the-breaéwinners,
were-driven-ﬁram-their-hemes—er-lieked-ap—ané-tessed-inte
3aily—er-in-eeneegtpatien—eamps.---Let-them-starve-the
rebels-thoy-werav---Only-a-hint-of-all-thip-was-getting
through-to-the-American-press./Note: It was after I landed
in Ireland that I learned this./ /Note: I'll touch on that
later. - J.B.C./ The pro-English press, always a
powerful influencé in the TUnited States weren't even giving
a hint of what was going on in that War; but enough was
seeping through to let us know.that thousands of families in .
the South of Ireland were in great distress. To relieve
that distress, at legst in part, the Committee for the
American Relief in Ireland was organized. Appeal was made
for funds. Money came pouring in, quite a bit of it from non
Irish folk who were for any people battling for political
freedom, and tﬁat money was forwarded promptly to the Relief
Headquarters in Dublin.

Letters of appreciation for the Relief aid were
arriving from Ireland but not for long when the American
newspapers Were running English despaﬁches to the efféct that
American Rellef money was being used to purchése arms and
ammunition for the Irish Rebel Army. To those of us who
knew British Empire procedure in wartime - or peace - the
intent of the arms and ammunition story was obvious, but to
those who would not know, and multitudes of friendly non-
Irish people would not know, that meant a lessening of funds
for the Relief, which meant that we should be doing
something to offset the effect of that arms and ammunition

story.

Now thousands of Americans were chafing to get a

close-up report of conditions in Ireland during that Black .
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and Tan War. I was one of the thousands, but only an
American of known pro-English bias would be allowed into

Ireland while the War was on.

For myself, I had served as a correspondent, in peace
and war, for Collier's and Scribner's and Harper's
magazines. I could see where I might serve Ireland, if only
in a émall way, 1f I could get into Ireland. But how %o

get in?

The Arms and Ammunition propaganda pointed the way.
I called on the Relief Authorities with the offer to serve
them in Ireland., /They agreed to my offer./ "Yes, but how
would I get into Irelamd?"

WAppoint me Commission for the American Relief, to

check up on how the Relief money is being spent over there."

I was appointed Commission, and I set out for
Ireland. I took a roundabout route to Ireland, thinking to
lose English Secret Service men who might be trailing me,
and thinking I had done so when I landed 1n.Ireland without
once being challenged. .(Later I learned that I had been
trailed from the day 1 sailed from New York to the day I
left Ireland for home.)

| ‘Arpriving in Dublin I registered at the Gresham Hotel,
having been told that it was a headquarters for men in the
know of the inner operations of Republic; also it served
the best food in the British Isles; alsc it was spoken of

as the Shooting Gallery because of happeningé within it.

Before I went to bed that night I made the
acquaintance of six men very muach in the know. Cne was
the Secretary for Home Affairs 1ﬁ President De Valera's
Cabinet, Joseph MacDonagh. ' He was on the run, and an open

target for.any Black and Tan who might sight him, but he
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gave no sign that‘being on the run worried him.

Next morning I looked up Clement France, Head of the
American Relief in Dublin. He assured me that no Relief
noney was-being spent for arms and ammunition for the Irish
Republican Ermy.- I went from France to the office of our
Consul. The clerk in his cuter offiee reported the Consul
as being too busy to see anybody that day. To that I said,
®*I'm a busy man myself. You go back and tell your boss
th&t I'm waiting right here till he has time for me."

The clerk disappeared and re-appeared saying the

Consul would see me.

The Consul showed no sign of gladness as I entered,
which wasn't unexpected by me. I had been told in the
Gresham that three of the four Ameriecan Consuls in Ireland
were ﬁfo-British, and the Dublin one the most pro-British of
the three. Before I could get started on my story he
opened up with-a spiel on the spread of the Foot and Mouth
disease among Irisih cattle. I stopped him early with:
"There's no foot and mouth disease among Irish cattle.
British propaganda that -- anything to eripple Ireland's
resources in this war. How about you arranging for me to

see GCeneral Macready?"

"General Macready is not in Dublin now."

"No?" - "Who takes his place when he's éway?“

“Mpm, That would be the Genefal's Chief of Staff,
General Brind." \

i1l sée General Brind then."

He went to the phoné, talked awhile, turned to me:
"General Brind will éee you anytime before twelve o'clock.”

"Tn Dublin Castle.™
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"In the Castle of course". He informed where in
within the Castle grounds I would find Brind - in a barracks

nearest the Phoenix Park entrance.

At the nearest entrance to Phoenix Park I was held up
by three olive drab soldiery with bayonets fixed to their
rifles. They acted as if théy were expecting me. One of
them polnted out the bullding where I would find General
Brind.

I headed for the bullding indicated. A Black and
Tan orderly led me to the top floor of the building, threw
open a door to a small dingy room. A meagre little man,
not in uniform, was sitting at a wide, flat topped desk.

He was alone in the room.-

I laid my pﬁssport and Relief credentials before him.
He waved them away, by which I guessed that he knew all about
me from our Consul over the phone.

I replaced my credentiasls papers in my coat pocget and
opened a conversation which proceeded, as I recall it after

thirty~one years, as I give it below:

Connolly: - *As Commissioner for the American Relief
I have come to Ireland to report on how our Relief monéy is
being spent. Press_despatéhes in our American press, dated
London but evidently emanating from Dublin, have it that
Relief money is being used to purchase arms and ammunition
for the Irish Republican Army. Mr. Clement France, in
charge of our Relief Headquarters, here in Dublin, has
assured me that not a dollar of Relief money has been used
to purchase arms and ammunition or any other supplies for
the Irish Republican Army.®

Brind: - "He has? Well, I can assure you
differently. In Dublin Castle here we have correspondence

taken off captured rebel commandenies which prove that the
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Irish rebel army has been purchasing arms and ammunition
with American Relief money.™

Connolly: - "So? May I see the captured

correspondence?"

Brind: - 'Mmhm, certainly." (He pressed a desk
button. A young officer entered.) "In my letter files you
will find correspondence taken from captured rebel

commandantes.?

The young officer waited as if for further orders.

Brind: - "Get those letters and bring them here.™
(The young officer saluted and left.) Brind pressed .

another button'and another officer entered, an older officer.

Brind: - "This is Major Stewart.H

Connolly: - "How d'y‘*do?"

The Major, a sour puss, nodded towards me, produced a
pad and peneil, marched to the left hand corner of the room
and bégan looking me over. He made pencil marks on the pad.
He moved to the right hand corner of the room and resumed
his surveying. He moved to a side position; and frﬁm there
he moved to take a stand behind me. I could almost feel
ﬁim breathing on the back of my neck. Secret Service was ny
thought, and when he is done with me he will have a
fecognizable sketéh of me - with notes for the Castle spies
who would be set on my trail. (I met up with plenty of
them while in Ireland.)

While the Major was manouvering around the room,
Brind was speaking of matters that held nothing of interest

to me until he brought in the name of De Valera.

Brind: - "You of course have met this De Valera?"
Connolly: - "No."

Brind: - "Ho?"
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Connolly: - "NO.®

Brind: - "He was hung in effigy to two lamp posts in

Connolly: - "So I read in this morning's Times."

Brind: "He is on the run you know."

Connolly: “"So 1've béen told. " |

Brind: - "We will pick him up before long. But will
you tell'me why the Irish are content to accept for a leader

a man who 1s not Irish, who is a Spanlard and a Jew.

Connolly: - "President De Valera is not é Spaniard.
He is an American citizen, born in America, of Spanish.
descent on one side; Irish on his mothert's slde. And he is
"'not a Jew, He is a Catholie, Catholic born and Catholic
li#ing.f De Valera a Jew? No, no. De Valera, as you have
said, is a man on the run, standing a good chance of being
spotted and shot down every time he leaves his hideout.
What'Jeﬁ, or any other man not Irish, would take over
De Valera's job as President of the Irish Republic with the
danger thét goes witp it? And no pay. No, No. And now,
what about those captured Irish Army letters?" (I was
doubting from the first his story of the capture of Irish

‘Army letters. By now I wasn't fearing a showdown.)

Brind: - "0 yes! The letters." (He pressed a button,

reluctantly I thought. The young officer entered.)

Young officer: - (without waiting for Brind to speak)
"We have searched everywhere, Sir, but we haven't been able

to find any Irish Army letters of‘any kind®.

I gave Brind time to say something. He said nothing,
then:

Connolly: - "No letters, Genergl?" (With that I stood

-
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up and left him. A meagre little man, ehagyineé-man at
his wide flat topped desk.)

While knocking around Dublin during the "six weeks of
intensive warfare", I met quite a few notable léaders - two
'meetings with De Valera - wanted men; men on the run, ken
‘high up in I.R.A. counsels, visited Joseph MacDonagh four
times in his hideaway of the moment, stayed with ﬁim by the
hour (once while a Castle spy was watching from a window
across thg street), MacDonagh made two engagements for me
with Michael Collins, but each time Collins stayed away from
Dublin - Intelligence warning him that he musn't come to
Dublin on both days. On my first visit to Oliver S5t. John
Gogarty'g home, I met George Russell, James Stebhens and a
wanted man dressed as a priest. 1 visited Sinn Fein
hospitéls with doctors in the midst of the day. Fearless
ﬁen those doctors, and intelligent. I was held up once by
one of the patrols after a lorry was bombed on a Foster
Street corner - held up and searcheai held up on the road
to Balbriggan - what a horfor of a place - by an English
Army qfficer, a courteous . -officer; woken out of a sleep '
in the Gresham one night during a raid by an English
officer: "Was I on my own?", meaning am I alone? “I am.

Would you care to step in and look around?"

All sorts of people were coming in and sitting with
me at_the Gresham - breakfast; lunch and dinner. ‘Bishop
'McRory was one, he fresh in from the North and "never
sleeping in the same place ﬁwo nights running“, he said.
Another table mate was an Englishman who - according to my |
Gresham friends - was the inventor of the news item that
had the Germans frying corpses for the grease in them. He
looked eéﬁal to 1it. Without preamble he said: "“Do you
kﬁow that the Irish Rebel Army takes no mrisoners ?" "y

A



don't know; Do you?* One night an English newspaper man
(Manchester Guardian I think) ffesh back from a visit to
Cork told me of cénditions there; of the great fire; of
the foot patrols at nighﬁ, shooting down anybody and
everybody, bombing.an Examiner crew cominglfrom thelir
building at three o'clock in the morning, blowing the legs
off four of them, &c.

Next morning I left for Cork, travelling on trains.
We had soldiers travelling in passenger coaches, so the
¢oaches would not be blowﬁ up by the Irish rebels. A
rough spot, Cork. The barrécks soldigrs - and what a mob
of them inh full - almost full:" - control. - In my hotel
(Imperial) I discovered two Castlé spies on my trail - a
woman spy (& stupid one) and a man spy - & retired Royal

Navy Captain.

While in Cork I called on General Strickland then in
command of the British forces in that area. I learned |
where I might find him, and there I found him - in a.back;
room on the top floor of a large barracks building. An
officer, his aide-de-campe, was standing beside the General's
desk. I gave the aide-de-campemy name adding: *1 am
Commissioner for the American Committee for the Relief in
Ireland and I come over here to report on the charge that
Relief money is being spent for the purchase of arms and

ammunition for the Irish Republican Army."

_ »The Irish Rebel Army," shouted Striekland from
behind his desk.

Connolly: - "The Arms and Ammunition story has gone
out of circulation. And now what of the report that you
are not allowing any American Relief to go to the distressed
families of men in the Irish Republican Army?
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Strickland, standing up to answer: - "I shall not
allow any of that money to go to the families of that Irish
rebel army or the families of men on the run, in Jail, or

interned." (Interned meant in concentration camps. )

Connolly: - "Gereral Strickland, I am going to put my

guestion - and the same question, to you again."

I put the question and got the same answer, this time
with the addition: - "Murderous rebels is what they are.

Murdering my poor boys."

Strickland's alde-de-campe, a well-nourished person
of about forty years, é major, entered into the conversation
with: "Sir," meaning Strickland, "d'y'know, I think the Irish
in America have altogether too much to say how we shall
govern Ireland." ' ' '

Connolly: - "So? And how long do you think the
people of Irish blood should be living in the United States
before you would think of them as American citizens?"

Aitde-de-campe - "Mmmm. Two or three generations I'd
say." | | _

Connolly: - "You'd say. You better take another say.
My father was born fight up here in Galway Bay - in the Aran
Islands. He left there as a young man for America, and the
instant hé set foot on that ship in Boston he was fit for
American eitizenship. And do you know why? He did not
have to unlearn a lot of hooey about the Beneficence of the
British Empire. And if it wasn't for the Irish who fought
in our War for Independence, what are now the United States
of America could very well be British Colonies. The Irish
in America have too much to say? One half té two-thirds of
Washington's Army, according to offieial English reporting,

were Irish born or of Irish descent. There were 240 of my
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name on the muster rolls of Washington's Army - 11 of them
commissibned offiéers - and there were more Kellys and
Murphys and Doughertys and O'Briens than Connollys, and 30 on
down the foll call of ancient irish names. And if you care
to check up on what I say, I.can tell you where you will find

the muster roll records of those names.!

The plump Aide did not ask to know where he would find

the regords. Then:

Connolly: - "What about a pass to drive over the road
to Limerick?? (A pass:was;ngcessari to drive more than 20
miles over tﬁe road. ) In place of the necessary pass he
gave me a splel about the dangers of road travel in that
area. I would meet with impassable ditches and felied
trees across the road ~ cbstacles placed there by murderous
rebels, and arriving in Limerick, if I arr;ved there safely,
I would be met at the Limerick barracks ggte by three armed
men with bayonets fixed to their rifles and one of them
would stick a bayonet point against my belly and demand to
know my business (I had said I had in mind to call on
General Cameron in command in Limerick.) - and so on and so

on, but no travel pass.

So I went by train to Liﬁerick and I called at the
barracks, and I was held ﬁp at the barracks gate by three
armed men with bayonets fixed to their rifles and one of
them put a bayonet point to my stomach and demanded to know
my business. I told him - t6 see sdmebody in authority and
get a permit to drive over the-roéd to my next place of call,
which would be Nenagh. (I gave a brief account of my '
L;merick experiences in.my volume SEA-BORNE,- so no more of
that except to say that Limerick WAS a hell for the
ecitizenry. Cork Wwas worse than Dﬁblin and Limerick was

worse than Cork.)
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I fbgnd Neﬁagh a:city'of gloom. All Business
stopped - a2ll shops shut down for the-daj. In Dublin, Cork
'and Limerick no people walked ;he streets by nigﬁt, but they
did by day. Iﬁ Nenagh nobody was walking the streets that
day. Four_of the Royal Irish Constabulary had been shot
down -~ shot dead by the I.R.A? r;flemen.‘ All Nenagh had to
share in the R.I.C. mourning. All business had to stop,
all shops shut down for the day. Whether it was a barracks
order or no, I did not inguire but except for the military
all I saw on the streets that day was one woman on her hotel

sidewalk,

The smaller the place the more dangerous. Nenagh
‘had me thinking of Dungarven, the 11ttle port on the Irish
Sea. Not a single man (except myself) walked Dungarvan by
day or night. Four men well on in years sat on a bench in
front of the little hotel until curfew. Then, @mder
eever-theyawent-then [Ehey scurried to cover./ Dungarvan
then was like a city of the dead. " The little hotel there
(my hotel) faced the back of the barracks, and in that
barrack lay the body of-a young Irishman. He had been
walking the roéd, an unarmed lad, when a lbrry load of
Strickland*s "poor boys" had overtaken him and bayonetted
him to deaéh.— Why? Did they have to give a reason? Not
they. '

I was back in Dublin after my swing around the South
and calling on Clement France, the Relief's directing head
in Ireland. |

“Our.Conshl,“ said France, "phoned that General
Macready would like to see you at fhe Castle."

I called on our consul, very pro-British, to learn

what General Macready wished to see me about. The Consul
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could only tell me that General Macready had word from
General Strickland that he should have a talk with the

American Connolly.

Our Consul, always in touch with Dublin Castle, went to
the phone. He came away to say that General Macready would
 be walting for me in his quarters at four o'clock that

afternoon.

I put in a good part of the next few hours in
speculating on why the Commander-in-Chief of the British
Forces in Ireland would want to see me? Strickland had said
he should see me? So. Then, I hope he ha@ quoted me in
full, It might convince Macready, as I think it did
KStrickland,'that the Irish in America were strong as ever for
a free Ireland.

An Army sergeant met me at the maiﬁ Castle gate. I
did not have to tell him of my engagement with the General. _
He knew. = The Guards at the gate when 1 wenﬁ tc see Brind --
they knew. And so for the guards atb tpe Castle barracks in
Cork. English communication in Ireland? Efficient. The
Sergeant beckoned to an olive drab lad 1n'a sentry box.

"You will escort this gentleman to the General's gquarters.”

uShall I take my rifle?" asked olive drab.

Sergeant: - "Why of course you shall take your rifie.™
He swung open tpe wide gate. "

"Shall I take my rifle?® Olive drab was a flabby
faced undernourished nineﬁeen year 0ld who shouldered his
rifle as if it was a log of wood, while crossing the
spacious Court yard of the Castle. I wondered what he
thought his rifle was for. An I.R.A. boy, any boy iﬁ my
place, would have whipped that rifle from him, if needs be

before olive drab would guess what he was up to. It would
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be iike taking candy from a baby.  He was the usual English
soldier. I had been with a half-dozen civilians in.a
failway co#ch load of his kind, placed with us to avoid
being blown up. ‘ |

The soldlier escorted me to the entrance to Macready's
quarters; A three time rap on the door knocker brought a
#alet, and he summoned a tall Army officer so imposingly
uniformed thﬁt I threw him a salute thinking hii Macready.

"I'm not the Commander-in-Chief," he said and led the
way upstalrs where a man not in uniform was seated in a '
swivel chair before a roller top desk in a room with a coal

fire in a nearby grate.

" aWon't you be seated?" he said -pleasantly enough, and
notioned to # nearby chair before the fire. It was June,
but there was a fire. He turned to pick up a letter from
his desk, held it up before him to read.

Hacready; - QMr. Connolly, dofyou happen by any
chance to-be‘felated to that James Connolly who was.executed
after the Easter week Bebellion?“

_Connolly: - "T am sorry to have to say, General
Macready, that so fﬁr as I know we are not related, because
from what I have learned about him, he was a man of great
mind, a great heart, & great soul. A great man altogether.

I am sorry I can't claim relationship.®

He said nothing to tﬁat, laid the letter back on his
desk.

Connolly: - "Do you mind if I smoke, Generai?“ I
drew out a cigar. ' o .

Macready: -.-"Wait, wait, I have cigars here.™ (He
reached to a drawer in his desk, brought out a box 6f

cigars.) "These are good cigars. - Four shilling cigars,
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a gift. I can't afford four shillings cigars myself. . Try
one." |

Connolly: - "I have a cigar here, General, and a good
cigar too. A two for a shilling cigar, made by a friend of

mine, Henry Fitzgerald, in my hometown of Boston."

Macready (pushing a four shilling fellow at me): - "0
have one of mine, and smoke 1t later.® ﬂ

I took it and thanked him, but I did not smoke it later:
I passed it on to an acquaintance 1n the Gresham Hotel lobby
next morning saying;

“Have a smoke on Dublin Castle, a four shillin'
smoke.“" .

He 1it it saying, "“Four shillin's! I never thought

I'd 1live to smoke a four shillin' cigar."

Macready waved his hand to take in the room, a large
room. .
Macready: - "These were the Duke of Connaught's

quarters when he waé stationed in Dublin.*

My thought to this was: - Here's a guy, thinking to
impress a visiting stranger that he was occupying quarters
that were once occupied by'£ Royal Duke. Imagine De Valera
or Michael Collins making mention of a Royal Duke to impress

a- vigitor. No, no, not they.

Connolly: - "MMMMMM! Nice." "And noﬁ, General
Macready, I have &.éuestion for you. .What about our Relief
money not being allowed to go to distressed pecple in Ireland?
Distress brought on by this War.,™ »

Macready: - "Mr. Connolly, I shall not allow any of
your Relief to go to the families of men in the Irish rebel
army or in jail, on the run or interned."®

Cbnnolly: - "S0? Do you realize, General Macready,
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that you are more fepressive, far more, than the Germaﬁs
were in Belgium. Under the direction of Herbert Hoover our
government expended millions of dollars in Belgian relief
 with never an objection from the German military: I am
going to put my question to you again, and I'm telling you

now that I shall quote your answer to the press."

_ ‘I put the question again, and got the answer, - "No
relief money to the families of men in the Irish rebel érmy,

men in jail on the run, or interned.® Then:

Connolly: - "General Strickland in Cork gave me the

same exact answer."

He said nothing to that. I said a few words on the
British conduct of the war, without bearing down heartily on

his rejection.

Macready: - "Do y'know Mr, Conholly, that Michael
Collins is without doubt a rather decent sort persocnally,

but do y'know his name in England is anathema,®

I took that as his way of putting me in better humor,
and setting himself as a tolerant sort of English man. And
so:

Connolly: - "Do you know, Sir Neville, I have met

some men here who regard you as not a bad sort - you having

to carry out your orders from the higher ups, with the Irish

people at large your name is also anathema.d

_ He curled up a bit at that, and from there I said a
- few more words on the conduct of the War, this time bearing
more heavily on the British. He took it for = while, and
fhen, explosively: \ )
Macready:- "Mr. Connolly, England cannot afford to
have a republié on her flank.®
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I do not think he meant to let that get out of him.
I had goaded him into saying it I think now.

Connolly: - Sir Neville, to carry that statement of
yours to 1ts logical or absurd conclusion, Gefmany should
not be allowing Holland to exist as a free government on
her flank, especially so as both countries are affiliated
ragially and religiously, nor shéuld France be allowing a
free Belgium on her flank, the racial and religious
affiliation being-there also, and so making a union &
n&fural action; _whereas in the case of Iréland, Nature has
placéd an ineradicable barrier the Irish Sea, and also there
;é no affiliation of race and religion and there is the
further difference of inherent culture and philoéophieé of
living." |

Macready (explosively): - "Let us not talk polities,
Mr. Connolly.™ V “

annoliy (also explosively): - "You started it, Sir
Neville.™ Since he had named Michael Collins without his
rank of General I had spoken of Macready as Sir Neville, not

General Macready.

That ended the fireworks. He said someﬁhing about
tea, and led the way below to a large room where a table was
laid for tea. All polite palaver there until between two
cups of tea:

4 | Macreﬁdy: - "How much longer do you expect to remain
in Ireland, Mr. Connolly?®

. Connolly: - ﬁDo y'know, General, there is so much
happening hepe in Dﬁblin that I hatelto leave." I so
spoke, but to me phat question meant that the é&stle spiles

had turned in reports of my non-Relief activities. I was

learning too much at first hand of Black and Tan dolngs.

Macready's question was the tip-off that I would do well



- 2] -

to be on my way out of Ireland, and I went on my way, though
not immediately. From Dublin Castle and Macready I went
.to look up Efskine Childers, Editor of I.R.A. Bulletin,
taking care to lose my spies who might be trailing me from
the Castle:

During one of his calls on me at the Gresham, Emmet
Dalton had told me I should get hold of Erskine Childers.
"He is the editor of the I.R.A. bulletins. To him come
feports of T.R.A. cémmandantes in the field. They have
~been doing amazing things - incredible things if you didn't
know the sort of men they are. Childers may let you have.

some of their reports."

-

Dalton told me where I would find Childers_who was on
the run. /I-went-from-Unepeady-te-tock-for-Childerss) He
was bent over a little table writing away when I walked in

on himo

A few days later, I slipped out of Dublin - unnoticed
I hoped - by way of a train to Belfast. I stopped for
dinner at a hotel managed by a trusty person, Mrs. Owens.
But the Castle spiles were on the job. While at dinner
three B Constables took positions opposite the fromt door of
the hotel and remained there till T left in a taxi - a private
taxi. A steamer to Liverﬁool, a train to London, & call on
the N.Y; World's London correspondent (Toomey). He pﬁt on
the cable Macready's statement that no Relief money would be
allowed to go to I.R.A. members of the families - and so on.
That came out in the afternoon edition of,the'N.Y. World and
its chéin. Next morning the London press held government
protests that there was never any such Intent and so on.
Maeready.:.called off the starvation‘Belief money ofder; and

$o that malignant propaganda measure was spiked. From
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London I returned home and started my report of my Relief

experiences in the Hearst press.



Extracts from Published Book entitled "SEA-BORNE"
by JAMES B. CONNOLLY.

Printed by DOUBLEDAY, DORAN & COMPANY, NEW YORK, 19Ll.

_ In 1920 the Black-and-Tan War was on in Ir.;ela.nd,

and the reports from there made rough reading.

A committee of 150 American citizens of all races and

creeds ezaminedr witnesses as to conditidna in Ireland.
The committee included five state governors, eleven
United States senators, thirteen congressmen,

Cardinal Gibbons, sixteen Roman Catholic, Episcopal,

and Methodist bishops, plus educators, editors,
businessmen, and labor leaders. The commlttee ".;....

sought the evidence of these atrocities, from both sides,
'in the hope that we could make clear, to the English on

the one hand and to the Irish on the otht-;r, our desire

- .to do them the service which our common civilisation

required as a right, our common humsnity as a duty. "

" Meantime the American Committee for Relief in

Ireland was raising money for the distresséd people over

- there and sending it over as fast as raised, Soon came
the press stuff froﬁ England that American Relief money
was being spent for the purchase of arms and ammunition

* for the Irish Republican Army. All this: while, I had
been wondering how I could get to Ireland. I knew that
the British authorities would not be for allowing a
writing man bearing the Irish name of Gonnblly entry into
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Ireland while a war was on there-that is, if he showed

up as & writing man,

Now how to get to Ireland? The Eondonlpress stuff
about Relief money being spent for I.R.A., arms gave me an
ides. I went to the Relief Committee and said why not
send a man to Ireland to 1o§k into the‘arms-and-ammunition
charge? ~ They thought it a good plan and appointed me
commissioner for the Committee for Relief in Ireland, to
“act in ‘co-ordination with their Mr. France in Dublin and
report back. I was to serve without pay or travel

. expenses, my own proposition.

. 1 took a French steamer to Havre, the first at hand.
I was.mhking my twenty-first crossing of the Atlantic; and

. there was no longer any novelty-not by steamer. Sea hotels.
blig steamers, were now ail comfort, psavy egting; and no
exercise, The never-monotonous was there, powéver,

"It was 8ti111 worth while sitting by the hour in a long-based
deck chair and watching the play of wind and sun on the

- gurface of the great waters.

It was my first morning in Dublin, a May morning,
with a clear sky and a light breeze from off the Wicklow
hills. A lovely morning, but not a calm one in Dublin.

E left my hotel, the Gresham Hotel on O'Connell
Street, and headed south., - I soon took notice of an

armored lorry drawn up against the curbstone., The lorry
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had a protective roof, and there was just space enough
above the lorry's side and the roof for a man to lay his

head on his ear and squint along the barrel of a rifle.

Three soldiers in iron helmets'were squinting
élong their rifle barrels now. Red-painted iron boxes
were affixed to the side of the building ﬁhe lorry was
abreast of. A man in m.fed coat was collecting mail from
the boxes. Phe three riflemen were guarding the red-

coated mail collector.

Arriving abreast of the lorry, I saw that my head
was directly in line with the pointed rifles and a mailbox.
The soldiers holding the rifles were boys of eighteen or
hineteen years, with soft, immature faces. They were
obviouély nervous. Looking backward from'haif a dqzen
'atepa farther on, I saw that the three rifles were pointing
at the head of the next pedestrian behind me. \‘Through the
partly lowered rear end of the lorry I counted ten other
steel-helmeted soldiers with bayoneted rifles held at

a ready.

The next man behind me was an alert-looking young
fellow with the black hair and dark blue eyes so common in
the South of Ireland. To him I said: "Does Dublin Castle
turn out an armed guard every time a postman collects mail
in Bublin?". |
| Hé gave me a sharp looking over, "You'll be an

American?".

"I'm an American".

"So? A short time ago four or five of the boyos
came in from the hills and raided the Central Post Office
here, and they took what special bags of mail they were after



4.

They found some use£u1 Castle correapoﬁdence in the bags.
Since then an armed lorfy or armored car has béen turnin'
out with every collection or deiivery of the post where ‘
there might be official mail." |

"And where were the English soldiers whilé they
were raiding the poat office?"

"The divvle knows. Safe in Castle barracks
doubtless. And where would you be goin’ now?".'

"I'm headed for the Sherbourne Hotel - at
Shepherd's Green, is it?".

“Shepherd's Green 1t is, and a fine rat’s nest for
English spies that hotel 1s." ; .
"Hy business is with the American Committee for
Relief in Ireland. Our office is there.™
‘ "Oh, that's it. A grand work they are doin', sir,

A grand work. "

Armored lorries and an occasional armored car were
passing constantly, and at good speed. Passing aiso was a
vehlcle enclosed in wire netting instead b# steel plates.,
The mesh of the nop wag fine enough to prevent a bhomb from
entering., Peering through the netting were soldlers in
.kpaki with bayoneted rifles and steel hats.

One of those 0ld orange women at the Nelson Pillar
on O'Connell Street had taken a peek at an early caged-in
vehicle and eaid-everysody in Dublin was quoting her to
every newcomer: "Phe Boore put ye.in xhakky, an' the
Germans put ye in tin hats, but it took the Irish lads to

put ye in bird cagesl".

Armored cars and lorries were tearing through
0'Connell Streét at twenty-five to forty milés'anuhour: all
other vehicles were expected to get out of their way; and

they got out.
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I crossed the 0O'Connell Bridge, and so on through
Grafton Street, The fine shops were here, and the plate-

- glass windows of some were marked by numerous bullet holes.
I moved on.

A group of English Black-and-Téns with fixed
bayonets were grouped at the corner of a side streét;
Barbed wire was stretched across the end of the side street,
and immediately inside the barbed wire were more Black-and-
Tans., Yet further in were four armored lﬁrries and an
armored car, A dozen or so Auxiliaries with dfawn pistols

weré standing near the lorries.

The Auxiliaries wore tam-o'-shanters aﬁd fhe dark
blue uniforms of the old Irish Conétdbulﬁry. The tam-o’'-
shanters were their own selection to mark them as not of the
iordinary run of Black-and-Tans. They were said to_be all
‘ex-bfficers from the World War; and they looked a
different lot from the soldliery. They looked like
fighting men. ‘ '

A policeman was standing across the street from
where the soldiers outside the barbed wire were stationed.

I stepped up to him. "What are they after?".

-~ .

"How would I be knowin'!" he cried testily. Then
in a low voice, and after a sharp glance at me: "They will
be after the Bulletin printin' plant, or maybe-hsst-

Mick Collins. Or-or-some other wanted man. "

A young woman had halted on the other side of the -
policeman, a young creature with a pink-and-white skin and
hlond-hair. A man in white spats, gray trousers, frock
coat, and silk hat stood beside her.

Seid the young woman: "Oh, I do love to see those
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brave soldiers at work!" She addressed her words to the

policeman, He glanced side-wise at her, remained silent.

'"I'd love to see them shoot some of them, wouldn't

you, officer?". i

The policeman looked up the raided street, up
Grafton Street, up at the sky; he looked everywhere

except at the young woman.

“And you'd love to, too, wouldn't you, Father?",

The man in the i{rock coat cast a furtive glance at
the policeman, then hurried to say: "She's a rampant
loyalist, officer, I have hard work to restrain her at

times. "
The: daughter and father moved on.

"4 noble-minded young woman!" saild the policeman.
"She would love to see them shoot sofme of them' And
himself an eminently respect&bie gentleman, Of the Kildare
Club without doubt.! .

_ It should be said here that the police of Dublin
were the only police in Ireland not in the pay of the
British Empire. - ‘

Before caliing in at the Sherbourne, I looked in on
Oliver St. John Gogarty, the famous surgeon, playwright,
poet, and wit of Dublin. I had met him the night béfore.
He was about to leave for the Irish Book Shop. "It's only
& short distance," said Gogarty. "We'll walk it." The
manager of the book shop was just back from a tour of

campaigning for a candidate for the Northern Parliament.

"They used you_roughly, I hear?", sald Gogarty.
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"Oh, somewhat. About twenty of them beat me up:
in & Belfast hotel. And while I was away-see." He
reached into the wastebasket and pulled out a battered

metal box.

‘"They came raiding-military an& Blaék—and—?ans.
One of them found this money i:ox which I had hid. He
forced open’the.lock, took &ll the bills and silver-
ten pounds and more. The missis was here. She
protested, of course. 'Look out, you, that we don't take
you to the barracks!' was all she got out of them.
They're a hopeless lot. The likes of them are nowhere

else on earth".

"A bit of rough thieving only," said Gogarty to me.
"Wait t1il you're here awhile". )

From ﬁhe book shop we crossed the Liffey River
and walked westerly along the North Wall. = Gogarty had a
patient in a hospital on Jervis Street. Turning in from
the river at Jervis Street, we saw globs of blood as big
as our palms on the stone flagging. Blood splashes
marked all the way from the river wall to the hospital-
a hundred yards or more! We inquired of an old woman
who steﬁped out of a doﬁrway to tell us what she knew
of the blood.

"They shot him - the patrols - last night."

"Did he die?".

"He did not, but he will'™"

"What brought on the shooting?!, I asked.

"What brings on any shootin'? Whenever they take

a notion to shoot an Irishmasn, who's to stop them?
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. He was & young :IEad, hardly more than a boy. He was standing
in the door of the shop where he worked. The foot patrols
came along. 'Get along!' said one of the patrole.

"'Cen't I stand in the doorway of my own shop?",

says the lad, a
"You 'eard me. Get the ‘ell along, I said, an' be
quick ebout it!" the patrol shouted. )

4

"The boy stepped down onto the footwslk and moved
along. He'd not taken six steps when the patrol shot him
through the neck from behind."

-

"The Castle report of that incident," said. Gogarty,
"will say that he was killed trying to escapé, or that he
refused to halt when ordered. "

I left Gogarty at the hospital and proceeded to the
Sherbouz;ﬁe. The uniforme_d front doorman was English.
He greeted me pleasantly, and I shook hands with him, which
surprised him until he found a half-crown in his hand.
An English underling beats the world fof gulck reaction to e
piece of chané,e.

"Something I can do for you, sir?"

"Perhaps. There may.'be a Mr. Houghton registering
here. A big red-faced man, sbove six feet and welghing-
oh, 240 pounds - geventeen stone. A massive man., An
Amerdican. When he comes would you mind phoning me &t the
.Gh'esham‘? My neme is 6onnolly. "

"A Mr. 'ooton. And Mr. Connolly at the Gresham,

I ‘ave it, " .

"Don't forget now. " |
"Trugt me, sir, I'11 make a note". I left him

- -

making the note.
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There was no Houghton. I believed I was being

" trailed and would continue to be trailed while in Ireland.

" The doorman, I knew, would pass the word of a Mr. 'ooton

to Dublin Castle, and that would give the Castle spiles
something more to think about. Every time thereafter

I never entered the Sherbourne without giving the doormen's
hend a warm grip, leaving a half-crown in his palm, and
asking for word of Mr. Houghton. His report was always
that no Mr. 'ooton 'ad yet registered. After the third
time he showed signs of worriment. "Would your friend,
Mr. 'ooton, be mikin' a mistike in the 'otel, do you think,

. Bir?" I got am bit of relaxation out of his anxiety; and

in troublous times any little bit of relaxstion now and then
is a good thing for the morsale, .

The head of the Relief fund in Ireland was
Mr. PFrance, brother to U.S. Senator France of Delaware,
I. presented my credentials to him. He was agréea'ble, ,
capable, and conscientious. He offered good evidence thai:
no Relief mone.j was going to the I.R.A. Later, while
travelling through the South of Ireland, I checked up for

myself and found things were as he said.

I was on my way back to the Gresham, and having .in
mind to get myself a travelling bag. I was glancing into
the windows for sight of a bag to my liking. And
preferably an English leather bag, they being the begt in
the world then. They may be yet for all I k‘nbw.

i

I had slmost decided on a capcious handsome one’ in
a Grafton Street window when I heard a Boom." No 1ozig
Boo-o-m this. A short Boom! - meaning not far away.
I hurried to the corner nearest where the boom came from,

A policeman v}as peeking around the corner. I peeked around
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. around the policeman. A sixteen-year-old boy on a
bicycle came flying around our corner, Up the street was
a lorry. It was standing still, and'eiéht or ten steel

' helmets and pointed rifles'werenahowing above the armored
sides of the lorry.

The dfivers of two sidecars near our corner were
hurriedly heading their horses down street - away from the
lorry.

Another lorry rolled up to the first one; and ffom '
it 1eape& 8ix or seven Black-and-Tans, with their rifles
held close and their heads jerking from side to side.

Not a soul, except their own people, was near them. One
of them looked into the first lorry, then shouted

something excitedly.

'Hy policeman turned and walked away from the street
of the lorry. I stepped into his place, meaning to move
up towards the lorries for a better view of what was going
on; but just then, the drivers of the sidecars ran past

me and ducked into the nearest doorwa& around . the corner.

People on the sidewalk were leaping for 6ther
doorways. 1 stepped back to my corner, not reasoning
things out; but with the feeling that it wes good for mé
to stop poking my head éround that street corner. From
the direction of the lorries came a rain of bullets.
Pip-pip-p-p they went. .Machine.guné in actioh! Past my
corner and across Grafton Street fléw a rainsfoim of

‘bullets.

I ducked back around my corner and headed towardé
the Gresham. I hadn't gone twenty-five yards when I saw
people near by were ﬁmking speed. QGirls were hop-séotching

into doorways; young fellows were leaping like rabbits into
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hellways. I glanced around me. For a hundred yards up
- and down there wasn't a human being on either sidewalk of

that shopping block but myself.
I could not see just where the'immediate danger leay.

Machine-gun bullets certainly could not curve around
a corner, but I figured that there must be a good reason for
all this hurry - Irish young men being no timid souls
generally. I took & running hop, step, and jump to the

nearest doorway.

In a few seconds I saw the reason for the hurry.
An armor-plated lorry with a load of Auxiliaries came
roaring down the shopping street st &11'of fifty miles an
hour, A dozen rifle barrels‘wgre.projecting above the
gldes of it. From the lorry came a whi-i-ing! Again a
whi-i-ing! And & whing) as it roared on its way. No
little pip-pip-p-p bullets those! No, sir. Heavy bullets

from high-powered rifles in the rear end of the lorry.

I moved out of my doorway with the others, and
I continued my way towards the Gresham. - At a corner nearest
the 0'Connell Bridge, I pulled up. I pulled up because
people ahead of me were pulling up. On the_othér side of
the: bridge was the same lorry load of Auxiliaries who had
come firing down Grafton Street. They were peering out-
with rifles pointed out from the sides and rear end of the
lorry. The bridge and the street at both ends of the
bridge were deserted, which shogld not be at the noon hour,
It should have been crowded with noon-hour people coming

and going from offices and shops,

I would have to cross the bridge to get to the
Gresham, I knew that the Auxiliaries and the Black-and-

. Tens had done more cruel things than shooting unarmed men
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going sbout their business, but I had a lunbheon.

‘engagement at my hotel,_ao when a couple of young fellows
:darted for the bridge, I darted after them. I was no hero
‘in doing so. The lorry crew, being Auxiliaries, mostly
'first-class fighting men from the World War, were not likely,

a8 were the ordinary run of Black-and-Tans and the soldiery,

to go jittery., Their shooting from their lorry was coldly

planned terrorism, not because of the jitters,

When I made my crossing safely, I looked back. .

' Two girls on bicycles were wheeling steadily across the
- bridge, straight towards the armored lorry. They sat up,"

held their heads high pessing the lorry, and unless my eyes '
were going bad, they were staring scornfully st the .

ereatures in the lorry as they passed them.

The bombing of the lorries and armored cars in
Dublin took place almost entirely in the noon hour, when the

. lads from the offices and shops were going to and coming

from lunch, ,Artervoffice or shop hours in the late
afternoon was: a good time too. Young lads attended to the

" bombing. They were daring lads, and emart, The lad on

the bicycle that passed me on that corner bombed that lorry.
Four Black-and-Tans were: killed by the explosion.

That hight & house not far from the Gresham was
raided. I was in my room when I heard the crashing. of what
must have been a heavy maml on wood., A street door that
would be. There: was rifle firing. A dog barked, It was
no friendly bark. -Hg continued his barking until suddenly-
like that- he Stopped barking.-

My room window looked out on O'Connell Street.
I raised the sash to look out. A guest on theé floor below
had his head out. A searchlight was sweeping the street.
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Soon came two young fellows with their hands hsndcuffed

" behind them, & group of Black-and-Tans were prodding

them on with the tips of their bayonets.

One Black-and-Tan looked upward. Then: "Pull your
'ead in up there, Pull it in, I sie, or I'll bloody well
soon bash it in for you." He may have meant that for the

men on the floor below; but I pulled my head in. too.

8o for my first day in Ireland during the Black-

. and=-Tan War.

Next day I called on the American consul in Dublin,
saying that I thought I should be _reporting t;a somebody in

" suthority at Dublin Castle. The consul, who was pro-

British, agreed with me, and phoned the Castle.,

General Macready was away, but his chief of staff,

General Brind, would see me,

I found General Brind &ll alone at a wide degk in &
good-gized room in the Castle, He examined my credentials,
motioned me to & chair faecing a strong window light, and

" looked me: over. I looked him over. He was a meager kind

physically and a sour-puss.

I began by saying I was in. Ireland to report on how the
money of the American Relief Committee was being spent.
He let me get that far,

"I can tell you how it is being spent. It is being
used to purchase arms and Munitions for the Irish rebel army"

I said: "How 4o you know thate"
"From captured correspondence of rebel unit

commanders. "
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"You have the correspondence?"
"I have", He pressed a button, a young officer
entered, PBErind said: "In the files you will find letters

taken off captured rebel unit leaders. Bring them here',

The: young officer lert. BErind pressed s button,
' Another officer entered and was introduced as Major Stewart.
He was ﬁnother sour-puss, and why he was brought in I could
~not understand, until he took & position to my left and
f inspected me, then to my right and inspected me. He wound
up- by standing behind me, and doubtless he inspected me from
. there. I fhought:. You'll surely be able to tell your
: Gﬁatle spies what I look like when you send them out to

trail me,

W .
Brind.opened[: discussion of De Valera, then
President of the Irish Republic. He had only harsh words

for De Valera; I of course had only good words.

‘"You of course have met him?" he said.

. "NO. n - s

"No?" He looked his doubts, but i1t was so, I hadn't
- met De Valera, but I did have an engagement to meet him that

. very afternoon with France.

There was further talk of - oh, fifteen minutes ~ then
a pause, I seized on the pause fo say: "What sbout those
" incriminating letters, General?". ]
' "Oh yes{" He pressed thé button. The same .young
officer entered, "Those letters? I'm sopr&, sir, but we

' cannot f£ind them in our files."

After lunch that day, a men I never saw before led our
Relief chief, Mr, France, and myself toc a car around the

o carner from the Gresham.  After a five-minute ride we were

transferred to another car, given another ride with

- various turnings, and dropped off at the rendezwous.
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De Valera arrived on a bicycle ﬁnd aloﬁe. He
apologised for being ten minutés late, andjExplained that
he had been pedaling against a head wind for miles. " We
discussed Relief affairs, American current affairs, aﬂd
- went on to American history. He knew American history
; from beginning to date, and he h@ld a special admiration
| for Abraham Lincoln. |

I wasn't long iﬁ Dublin when I became aware that the
 Castle spieﬂ'aﬁ the Gresham hotel were paying special
. attention to me. On my first Sunday after meeting
De Valera I was to meet Joseph MacDonagh at his then place
of hiding, MacDonagh was Secretary for Home Affairs in the
_ Irich Republic cabinet, and he was on the run, I left my
. room at the Gresham Hotel to make the noon Mass at the
pro-cathedral around the corner from the: Gresham, Two
Black-and-Tans in mufti were below in the lobby, one on
each side of the wide steaircase, There was a high mirror
at the head of the stairs, I turned my back to the lobby
" and bent over as if to lace one of my shoes, but actually
to watch my Black-and-Tan spies in the mirror. 0One glanced
to his pal, then toward me, The pal nodded back, |

I was wearing my soft hat and my reversible raincoat,
tan-colored one side, & plaid pattern the other side.
In the pocket of my raincoat I had a golf cap. One Black-
and-Tan followed me from the hotel. I went on to the
. cathedral, which was crowded as usual, After Mass, and while
" moving toward the door wifh the crowd, I reversed my
raincoat from the plaid side to the tan side, stuck my
soff hat in my coat pocket, OQutgide of the door I put on
. my golf cap. I passed within ten feet of my man, took &
jaunting car at the street curb, said: "Drive anywhere

you please, I want to look at Dublin'.,
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At the next cormer I told the driver to.turn:the
next three corners as he came to them  After the -third
corner I paid him off, took refuge in a doorway, halled
the next passing cab, got off within four blocks of
where MacDonagh was tucked away at the time,

My MacDonagh was the brother of the poet MacDonagh,
executed with Patrick Pearse and James Canolly for hise
part in the Easfer Rising. My first meeting ﬁith him
for a good talk had been at the home of Dr. Goggrty.
Present then also were George Russell (& and the Irish
novelist, James Stephens. Gogarty's home was a.réfuge
for hard-pressed leaders on the run. Michael Collins
had a key to Gogarty's front door.

On this Sunday MacDonagh was tucked away in a
brick and slate-roof house ia a block in the heart of
Dublin, Iifpund;him.opening his mail, which was bheing
brought to him daily by & sevenieen-year-old lad on a. .
bicyele. A curious item was that he was doing business
regularly by mail with the heads of bilg English

commercial concerns.

E sat at the window watching the armored lorries
roaring ﬁhroﬁgh the street. After a time I took notice
of a man peeking between the half curtains of a window
on the other side of the street. I mentioned it to
MacDonagh., He said: "Three doors down the street, is it?
He's a Castle spy. He's been watching this house for
three days nbw; By the time he's sure there's & wanted
man here I'1ll be gone". He went on calmly opening his

mail,

There were two of my early experiences with much-

. wanted Irish leaders on the run.
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Interesting things were happening every day in

. Dublin;' but the charge that monsey of the American Relief
in Ireland was being used to buy arms for the Irish

' Republican Army called for my leaving Dublin smd looking
into how the money was being spént in the towns and
villages of the South of Ireland. |

My first call was in Dungarvan, = little port on the
southeast coast. I arrived there in the late afternoon and
went straight to the Devonshire Arms, which was on the
English-inn style, through msnaged by an irishpoman.

I was the only guest, which surprised me, Later I became
accustomed to hotels without guests in the South of
Ireland. The rear wall of the Black-and-Tan barracks was
across the‘road from the Arms; and right then in the
barracks was the body of a young Irishman who_had been
bayoneted to death on the day before by Black-and-Tans

for no other reason then that he was Irish and the&_were

in the mood for a killing.

' The door to the bar in the Arms was locked and
barred. I asked why., The answer was that the gentiemen
from the barracks had been coming there, helping themselves
and never paying for what they took. An occasional one
would smash & bottle of liguor that he wasnft-equal to
emptying at the moment. My pint of stout for my dinner

' was brought up ffom the cellar, which was also locked.

After dinner 1 étepped to the Arms entrance., Four
elderly men were sitting on a bénch,against the Arms front
wall. No young men were in sight. I asked where I could
find the parish priest.E In villages ahd emall towns the
parish priests usually disbursed our Relief money.
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f - QOne of the four elderly men went wﬁth me to the
i corner of.the Arms and gave me directions for finding,

' not the parish priest, who was an old man and not .a well
man, but his active young curate who would be at so-and-

so's house, A meeting was being held there that night for

' a ways-and-means talk for the welfare of the families of
| the men who were then in jail, or interned (in

concentration camps), or on the run, . Or dead, it might be,

Dead meant killed in the fighting, or murdgred.

| Directiong called for my turning the corners of
* three roads and to the last house 6n the left-hand side of
the fourth road. I séid: "I may go astray. You'd better

" come with me',

! "] daren't, Curfew will be on a few minutes now,
"a' y' seé - at seven o'clock. And if I was caught out by
. the patrols they would shoot me,"

| I had seen the Blgck—and—Tan patrblé passing the
' Arma while at dinner, They were marching afoot, three
. ébreast and with bayonets fixed to their rifles.

My elderiy guide scurried back to the Arms, ﬁnd

- I went on alone, It was a May night, 1ig§tsome of éourse
- at that hour, but not a soul did I meet on WMy way to the

, designated meeting house, ' |

I found the house, A dozen women and the young

curate were gathered there., The curate ldoked.like one who

could have borne himself well in the ranks of fighting men.

'Most of the young Irish priests of that day were of that

' sort.

What I heard in that house that night was all of"

ymirders, of looted or destroyed property -~ houses and
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-contents - and Dungarvan men and women bhesaten up.

It was close to midnight when the young priest and
"I left the meeting with a shower of: "Have a care now,

'Father, and you too, sir™, following us through the door,

"I go this way. And God speed you'", said the

curate.

|
¢

o

I went my way. It was a darkened village, not a
:sign of a light showing from behind drawn curtains and
%closed,dbora. It was ?erhaps half a.mile'to the Arms;
'and I wondered what I would do if I met with patrols.
‘To run; in case they saw me, was out, It was a d&rkened
'village, but not a darwk night overhead; and it was Black-
'and-Tan custom to shoot running figures at sight when on
Epatrbl. |

I heard the tramp of patrols not far away, but
iI met with none,

The Arms was aark, the front door locked when

I arrived thére. I lesned a shoulder against the door and
.rapped the kmocker softly. The door was opened so soon

and so suddenly that I all but fell in,

"Thenks be to God," said the man inside, the night

porter. "You're safe back, "

Dungarvan was Just another little place of a.
thousand 1little places in the South of Ireland.

t

I went on to Cork, One mayor of Cork had been
murdered in his home by Black-and-Tans; and the mayor at
this time was on the run. The history of another mayor of

bbrk, Terence MacSwiney, is known to the world.
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I had known Cork in my destroyer days in
Queenstown. A restful city then, but nothing like that

- NOW. A good part of the business section had been burned

. down by the Black-and-Tans; 10,000 ermed Black-and-Tane

and soldiery were garrisoned on a total popu],af.ion of

+ 70,000 men, women, snd children. Here the patrols were in

armored lorries and on foot, the foot patrols also marching

three abreast and with bayonets fixed to their rifles.

General Strickland commanded the garrison in Cork.

. He was the successor to that Colonel Smith who had said to

. his Black-and-Tans: "The more you kill the better I'll

like you," After a thoughtful peuse, Smith had added:

. "A ghip loaded with Sinn Feiners will be leaving here soon

to give testimony against us to that American comnlittee.

.That ship wil;. never reach port." After a series of

horrible outrages by Smith's men, an I.R.A. board of
officers considered his case; soon thereafter an I,R.A.

gunman caught him out of garrison and shot him dead.

I was _jl'.old to look for General Strickland in a rear

- room of the top floor of a stone 'building atop of the

. barracks hill. I walked in on him without a previous

warning, He was a tall, emaciated figure of a man with

' whitish blue eyes. My name, I saw, did not please him;

and soon he was frisking me himself for concealed weapons.

A helpful name, mine, in the Irish countryside, but not in

" a Black-and-Tan barracks. . : .

1 asked Strickland how he stood 1n'the matter of

- America's Relief money, His answer: "I will not a&llow a

.:sj-.ngle dollar of any American money to go to the- familles

iof these murdering rebels who are in their. so-called army,

or on the run, or in jail, or interned. ll‘u_fderejrs shooting
down my boys)" ‘
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His "boys" included Black-and—Tané. At
Strickland's elbow was his aide;de—c&mp; a plump figure of :
. forty yearé, a major. Said thé plump major: "Do you know,
. General, these Irish in America have altogether too much

' to say of how we shall govern Ireland,"

oo "These Irish in America? How long in your
: judgment must a family of Irish blood be living in the
United States before you would rate them as Americant".
That was {rom me,

"Oh - two or three generaiiona, I'a say. "

"You'd say. You'd better take another say.
My fa@her'was“born in Irelénd, yet the moment he set foot on
- American soil from the deck of an imm%grant ship he was a
good Amerlcan, hecause he never had to unlearn a lot of

~hooey about the beneficence of the British Empire."

The fattish major blinked. I ran on: "And who in
'the United States should have more right to sé& that 1little
| Ireland should be free of Engmhnd‘than the men of that same
EIrish blood which was spilied 80 plenteously to free the
IAmerican colonies from the tyranny of England? High
iEnglish officials of that day have recorded that at least
ffifty per cent of Washington 8 army were of Irish blood.
There were 245 men of my father' 8 name, eleven of them

' officers, on the mster rolls of the Continental Army, and

.there were more O'Briens and Kellys and Murphys and
,Doughertys than Génnollys on those same rolls, And so on
|

'down the roll of the ancient tribal names. ™

3

The major was so0 obviously doubting the accuracy
of my figures that I added: "Check up on what I've just

'said," and paid no more attention to him.
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My relief dQuties in Cork brought mb in touch with men
who for their safety lived behind barred and chained doors;

also 1 came in contact with other men, who should have been

' in hiding, 8o a visiting stranger would think, and yet were

- not. One arternoon,'l entered a little pﬁb where seven

young men were sittiﬁg'around smoking a cigarette, or

nursing a pipeful of tobacco, or sipping at a pint of stout.

They looked to have nothing in the world to worry them, yet

they were all I,R.A. gunmen, and the little pub overlooked

" the bilg square in Cork, and thousanda of people in Cork

knew that I.R.A. gunmen were to be found in that 1ittle pub

- any afternoon. Fo Elack-and-Tans ever moved in on them.

No Black-and-Tane ever bothered gunmen who were known to

be such. And why?

I came to know I,R,A., gunmen and to understand why

~ the Black-and-Tans avoided trouble with them. I was in

' the drawing room of the Gresham Hotel after curfew one

night with two known-to-be I.R.A. gunmen end two known=-to-
be Black-snd~Tans in civilian clothes, The gunmen were
swapping stories coldly calculated to hold Black-and-Tan

doings up to ridicule. I moved early to & corner of the

- room where I would be oﬁt'pf range if any shooting should
- open up. (A nickname for the Gresham was Shooting Gallery).

By and by the gunmen, having exhausted their store of

ridiculing tales, stfolled leisurely out of the room and

 onto the street. The Black-and-Tans made no move until

- after the street door closed behind their tormentors.

!

I.R. A, gunmen were the exeuutioners for the I.R.A.

. trial boards. Dublin Castle had its hangmen and firing

- squads behind jails and barracks walls; the I.R.A., had its

- gunmen,and they were never mere killers. Théy killed only:
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men condémned after trial; and they never failed to get
their men, Most of them could shoot a man's eye across
the street.  All Dublin knew of their almost daily pistol
practice on a race track outside the.city. They stood
rqady at all times to shoot it out with any Castle men,

to check in and call it a lifetime if it came to that.

It was a terrible time for the South of Ireland
in that year of 1921. During;the preceding year, 1920,
more tﬁ@n 48,000 homes had been raided; thousanda of them
looted or destroyed, freguently both; this on the
| published authority of the American commission.

Martial law was on. A pistol or rifle,‘or even a
single cartridge, found on a man's premises meant a death
sentence in the South of Ireland. Any group of five or more
- on the street could be shot down at sight.  Any man
1 approaching a Black-and-Tan with his hands in his pockets
~could be shot down. To harbor & member of the I.R.A. was
1 death to the occupants of the house harboring him; aye,
evén though the harbored man was the son or brother of the
head of that household. Women and children were shot down,
women with bables at breast. Priests were shot dead for
' refusing fo shout: "To hell with the Popel" Or for no

" regson at all,

Black-and-Tans drew the all-time record pay. for
' soldiery - seven pounds a week; and what ioot they picdked
iup they were allowed ﬁo retain; and they were guaranteed
'iexemption from any excesses, even to the murder of unarmed

"non-conbatants.

The Black-and-Tané fought from brick and stone
' barracks, and from armored lorries with pistols, rifles, and

‘machine guns; the I R.A. men with pistols and rifles from
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the cover of ditches and'hedges and stone walls along the

road. Thg British forces outnunbered the I. R. A. by -

oh, certé[-iniy five, probably ten, to one. One I,R,A., men
against ten Castle men was the usual Irigh estimate of an

equal battle, One day in -Du'b_lin I répeated that estimate
to my Irish jarvey. He boiled over with indignation, he

whirled in his seat: "What ten to one! A hundred to one!

There are no men like them in all the worr-r-1d, "

I left my Jarvey and entered the Gresham Hotel,
A group of drovers having sold their cattle were haf:l.ngr a
drink at the Gresham bar. One was telling of a batile
that took place on his land in K‘erry; When he had done
listening, one said: ”Wl'lat men! It was snother |

Thermopylae, that fightl!"

"What Thermopylse?" shouted the first drover.

"Thermopylae wasn't & tuppence to it)"

It was guerilla warfare; " and the,.‘I.R.A. developed
that style of warfare to a degree no troops before them
" had ever attained. Long long before the Black-and-Tan War,
Irishmen were known all the world over as a fighting race,
In that Black-and-Tan War they were the fighting Irish at
. their Best. The supreme inspiration was theirs then.
After centuries of protest and blood.ahehd‘.ding, the

freedom of thelr little country was in sight.

The I.R.A. of '20 and '21 wen® to war as to a
crusade, No drinking man, no immoral man was allowed in
: I.R. A, ranks, They went to Confesgsgion and comu_nion

| regularly, and always on the eve of an especially
dangerous mission.

The women of Ireland were a mat.ch for their
' fighting men, I was in Limerick, where 6,000 Black-and-

TPans and soldiery were stationed to hold down a total
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. population of 40,000. Miss Madge Daley, manager of a

' wholesale bakery in Limerick, acted as my guide in & tour of
- Limerick asnd the country around. Her fine home had been

- destroyed, her sister had had her wrists'slasﬂed by

: Black-and-Tans, - At the end of the day I said: "Miss Daley,
I fear I did you no favor when I asked you to act as my

| gulde today™ - '

Her instant, passionate response was: "They've
done me all the harm they can already, except shoot me.
. et them!™. |

From Limerick I went to the neighboring town of
'Nenagh. Mrs., O'Meara, widow of a member of Parliament and
fﬁanager.of'o'meafa's Hotel in Nenagh, stood in the door of
'her hotel and pointed out to me the destroyed homes within
'gight. Bhe named the innocent people murdered in the town.

+E said: “How is it all going to end, Mrs., O'Meara?",

-

She was a grand picture of a woman - black hair,
flashing black eyes, six feet tall - Juno herself, Her

‘answer: "They'll clear out, or they'll wipe us out!"

1 - - - ~ -

An o0ld lady of sgven;y-five was weeding her little

'garden plot Just oﬁtaide of Limerick, Not 1opg before this
:her grandson had been executed by a firing sguad. To her

& said:; “What do you make of it all?" She answered after a
'%houghtfui moment: "Faith, I don't kmow should we curse
them, or lave them to God,™

_ The soul of Ireland was speaking from the toﬁgues of
those women. It spoke too from the tongue of the fifteen-

&ear-old MacDonald boy who was stood up outside his parents’
aeatroyed'home in the outskirts of Nenagh. Seld the Black-

".-

and-Tan officer: "We'll give you three minutes to pray

t
|

L
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before we shoot you!" The lad answered: "I don't need

three minutes, I'm réady to dle now!"

. : Limerick and Nenagh are twenty miles apart., I quote
the foregoing from what came to me in a casual weay in that

smell area, All over Ireland it was the: same,

I moved around, knelt and prayed with Irish men and
women outside barracks walls while within therﬁalhslrish
patriote were being stood against that wall and executed
by firing sgquads. On two occasions I entered towns as
details of Black-and-Tans were returning home from burying
their dead after battles with I.R. A, men. Being greeted

' by a member of one burisl party as "another goddsmmed Yank,"
; his pistol readyrto his.hand, reminded me of what a friend
i well posted in Irish affairs had sald to me before leaving
home on my Relief mission: "Going into Ireland with your
name among those Black-and-Tans - it's fifty—fifty whether

" you come ocut alive or dead!"

My answer to that wass: "I'll come out, There's
imore than a shooting war on in Ireland. It is also a war
for American public opinion. If I'm shot it won't be by
Dublin Castle orders.  Shooting the commissionef for the

;&merican Relief in Ireland would be bad propagande.
London well lmows that when English propaganda with tﬁe
American public fails, the British Empire will be on the.

way out.".

I-wasn't long in Ireland when I became aware of
‘being trailed night and day. Later I learned that I had
‘been trailed'by Scotland Yard siqpe the day I salled from
:NBW York., Myself and three men that I spotted early for
Scotland Yarders were the only guests in the thirty-room
Ehotel, the Royal George of Limerick; yet with twenty-nine
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empty rooms at his disposal, the hotel head portef had
:placed the Scotland Yarders in a room next to mine on the
;top floor. That night the Scotland Yard men steged what
sounded like ézbéttle roysl. There was much profanity

.and threats of shooting. If it was a real quarrel pistol
'shots should soon be coming through the walls. But I had
been tipped off that day that the hotel porter was a spy for
Dublin Castle, and so I went to bed.

Two women spies were also on my trail, both stupid.
:In the Imperial Hotel in Cork a womean tipped the ﬁea&waiter
'John heévily to iﬂace her at the next table to where I sat
'with a friend. John d4id that, and then over the woman's
shoulder tipped mé off to what she was while pushing her
chair into the table.

There was a woman I took notice of as I stepped off

the train in Waterford, and again at the hotel, and yet again
| gt a resfaurant. She was a little mouselike creature,
Fh&ﬁbily dressed in a éhea$ black skirt and waist, a cheap
pat, che&p'cloth-top shoeg, and white cotton stoakings.
So far she was properly dressed for apying;‘land then she
had to spoil the ensemble when she followed me into the |
amoking compartment of an outgoing train with a brand«new
English pigskin bag that cost whoever paid for it not a

pehny less than ten guineas in London,

I was stuck up several times by English officers and
soldiers, Once on the street, after a near-by boﬁbing;
One midnight 1in ‘the Gresham Hotel a.n’ English army captéin
gstuck me up in my room, But the English officers and the
sergeant who stuck me up were courteous sbout it, 1eavin§
ﬁhe impréssion with me that they were not relishi#g their
éuty in Ireland. |

t
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A11 slong the way I had been meeting with fighting

- men of note. I met the dying captain of the famous
Ballinalea fight in a Sinn Fein hospital. In a bed in the
same room was the supposed-to-be mortally wounded leader of
'the incredible Custom House exploit. He recovered. ’
IGbming several times to my room in the ﬁrésham Hotel was
Ceptain Emmett Dalton, leader of the amazing Mountjoy
Prison exploit, Michael Collins died later, rifle in hand,
'in Dalton's arms. Once more while in Dublin I held
endience with President De Valera.

‘ One day in Dublin I got word through our
Mr. France that General Macready wished to ‘see me; It seems
that General Strickland in Cork had written Macready that
'he should have a talk with this man James Connolly.

A soldier on guard at the main gate of Dublin
Castle led me to the door of Macready's quarters: I was
ﬂlet inside that door by Macready's valet, led to Macready
‘upstairs by Macready's alde-de-cemp. A.more'inteiligent-
[1ook1ng and courteous alde-de-camp, this one, than

Stricklan@'s.

Macready greeted me pleasently, passed me & good ‘
cigar, picked & letter off his desk and, reading from ;t,
said: "Are you by any chance relﬁted to that |
James Connolly who was executed after that Easter rebellion

3

of 1916%",

My- answer to that was: "I'm sorry, General
Macready, that I can't claim relationship with that
General James Connolly who was executed after the Easter
Week Rising of 1916. From what I've been told of him by
men who knew him well, he was a man of'greaﬁ mind, a great
heart, and a great soul. -I'm sorry I can't claim a _

relationship.
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I spent two hours with Macready, had high tea with
him, and we talked, generally pleasantly, of one thing and
another. I did sound off belligerently a few times, and
he stuck his neck out a few times, but no reszlly harsh
note was struck, Once he said: _ "r, Connolly, I haven't
any doubt that this Michael Collins is a decen't sort
personally, but 4' y' know, his name in England is

anathema, "

To myself I sald: “There's the English again,
never seeing themselves as others see them! Aloud I said,
petulantly perhaps: "D' y' know, Sir Neville, I.R.A. men
~ generally regard you as a decent sort personall-y,' which is

why you are sitting safe here now, but with fhe I’riéh at

large your name ¥s anathema, ™

By. and by I put the gquestion to Macreadq} that
I had put to Strickland in Cork: "What is your attitude
towardﬁ the American Relief money?" His answer was like
an echo of Stfickland's in Cork, -tﬁe same to a word,
except that he did not speak of I,R.A, men as murdering
rebels, FNo, he would not allow any of our money to go to |
the families of Irishmen in the I.R.A., in Jail, interned, -
or on the run., I put the gquestion again, with the

- warning that I would quote him publicly.

His answer was the same. I then said: "D' y' know,
you're going further than the Germans €Ver went in '
| Beléium. They did- not forbid our Er. Hoover to give food
to. the starving Belgians."

There was much of political interest - at least to
. me - in my talk with Macready. Once he let slip:
YEngland cannot afford to have a ‘republic on her flank."
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My arnswer to that was, "By the same loglcal or absurd

.. deduction® - I went into a detailed analysis - "Germany

should do away with Holland's 1ndépendence, and France

with Belgium's".

His reaction to that was, "Mr, Connolly, let us

not talk politics."

I retorted with, "You started it",

My interpretation of Macready's summoning me to
the Castle was to draw me out, and from my telk estimate
the‘reaction of the people of Irish descent to'the waf in
Ireland. If such was his idea;lonly one conclusion could
he draw from ay talk, i.e.: The war in Ireland was a
horror to the world at large, and to the United States
i in particular.

Macready must have known on his oﬁn account that
the: war was & horror to tens. of thousands of people in his
own Englend. ~Also there was hia still lively recollection
of the ﬁpéetting action of Brigadier General Grozier, the
original commander of the Black-and-Tans in Ireland.
General Grozier had commanded an Engligh brigade in France
f during the World War, While there he shot down with his
own hﬁnd officers and men running awaj from the firing
line. In a book of his, titied, The Men I Xilled, he
~ told of these shootings by his own hand. Now there was a
| hard-bolled soldler, no sentimentalist, a realist, and
? yet he had resigned hls command of‘the Black-and-Tans
in Ireland. And why? His printed explanation, in part,

- was: "I resigned because we were murdering;and shooting

' up innocent people, burning their homes and making new ahd
deadly enemies every day. What was worse, we were
swearing to the world that the Irish were murdering eabh

- other because they were divided among themselves -
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or, perhaps, for fun. The Crown regime in Ireland wae
nothing more nor less than a Pascist dictation clothed

in righteousness."

Bbtween=two cups of tea at the Castle, Macready
said: "How much longer do you expect to remain in

Ireland, Mr. Connolly?".

His voice was suave, but expect was the word he
used - expect, not intend. At this time, four weeks of
Macready's planned "six weeks of intensive warfare in

Ireland" were up.

Expect? That word, of course, meant that I héd
heen getting arouhq overmuch, learning too much at first
hand of conditions in the South<of Ireland to suit the
Castle, | |

My answer to his question was: "D' y' know, Sir
Neville, there's so much 1ﬁteresting going on here that
I don't like to leave it." But there were my orders to
get out of Ireland. Three days later I was on my way.

The morning after seeing Macready I called on -
MacDonagh and told him that the war in Ireland was as good

' as over.

"Did Macready tell you thate?"
"No. " But he was so thinking when I left him,"

Later that day, I sald to Oliver Gogafty, "Ireland
will be offered & dominion form of government within six
months,

""Did Macready say that?"

"No. But there it is."
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- §1x months to a day almost after m& sit-in with
. Macready came the London conference that led to the setting
. up of the Irish Free State.. How d1d I Xnow 1t? To that
' I:caﬁ only say that there are times when things come to a
fellow,

Arriving in London, I quoted Macready in the matter
| of American Relief money to Twomey, the New York World's
' London correspondent. He immediately cabled it to his
' paper, and promptly came the denial from London that the
'British Governmént ever intended to enforce any such

' policy. No, no, nevepr!

4s to Relief money going to the purchase of arms
“and-munitiona for the Irish Republican Army, I was able to
report that it was pure propaganda. Our capable and:
' conscientious Mr, France had been seeing to it that no

-Americen Relief money was heing diverted to I.R, A, war uses,

A well worth while woyage, that one to Ireland in
'1921. Pilling a 300-page volume of my own experiences and
"what I learned at first hand‘of the doings of Irish leaders
:and the men of thé Irish Republican Army would have been
'an easy Jjob. What I have written here is by way of no
imbre than striking the note of the fiﬁal stagea of the most
jheroic'reaiatance in all hiatofy of & small nation tec an
immense military machine, Whoever is for the liberty of
:men's bodlies and souls, especielly of their souls, must
:appiaud that resistance; and the complete freedom which
Ire;and took over eventually must be serving as a most
‘heartening example -to all the little nations. living in

political and economic slavery to an alien government,

-
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